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HOUSE 

Thursday, June 6, 1940. 
The House met according to ad­

journment and was caned to order 
by the Speaker. 

Prayer by the Reverend Mr. 
Hughes of Augusta. 

Journal of the previous session 
read and approved. 

Mr. starrett of Warren, was 
granted unanimous consent to ad­
dress the House. 

Mr. STARRETT: Mr. Speaker, at 
yesterday afternoon's session I am 
on record as being absent, and I 
wish to explain that I was here and 
answered present on both calls, and 
rose on the fioor and asked to be re­
corded as present, and I am on rec­
ord as being absent. I think the 
gentleman from Turner, Mr. Pratt, 
will tell the House that I was here 
when the roll call was given. 

The SPEAKER: The Chair hears 
the gentleman's remarks. 

Is it now the pleasur·e of the 
House to take up cut of order a 
communication from the head of a 
department? 

The following papers from the 
Senate were taken up out of order 
and under suspension of the rules: 

From the Senate: 
The following Communication: 

(S. P. 746) 
STATE OF MAINE 

EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENT 
Augusta 

June 5, 1940 
To the President and M·embers of 

the Senate: 
To the Speaker and Members of 

the House: 
I herewith transmit for the con­

sideration of the Legislature a mem­
orandum received yesterday from 
the Commissioner of Health and 
Welfare in reference to the activity 
known as "Aid to Dependent Chil­
dren." 

As the memorandum indicates, a 
slight revision in existing State law 
apparently is necessary in order for 
the State of Maine to receive the 
maximum amount provided under 
Federal law. If such a change were 
made, it would appear that the State 
of Maine would benefit on eXisting 
cases to the extent of $15,528 per 
year from Federal funds. Of this 
amount, present State funds would 
benefit to the extent of $10,200 per 

year and municipal payments would 
benefit to the extent of $5,300 per 
year. 

If, in the opinion of the Legis­
lature, this is sufficient cause to 
consider an amendment to our exist­
ing law, I trust the necessary legis­
lation may be prepared and intro­
duced. 

Respectfully submitted, 
(Signed) LEWIS O. BARROWS 

Governor 
Comes from the Senate, communi­

cation with accompanying paper 
read and ordered placed on file. 

In the House: 
Mr. VARNEY of Berwick: Mr. 

Speaker, because of the fact that 
this communication apparently calls 
our attention to the possibility of 
some amendments to the statutes 
pertaining to aid to dependent chil­
dren, and because of the fact that 
the standing committee on Judiciary 
c:msidered all amendments pertain­
ing to aid to dependent children at 
the last regular session, it seems to 
me that this communication should 
be called to the attention of that 
committee, and I therefore move 
that it be referred to the standing 
committee on Judiciary. 

Thereupon, on motion by Mr. Var­
ney, the communication with accom­
panying paper was referred to the 
Committee on Judiciary in non-con­
rence. and sent up for concurrence. 

(500 copies ordered printed) 

On motion by Mr. McGlaufiin, out 
of order and under suspension of 
the rules, it was 

ORDERED, that Mr. Winslow, of 
Auburn, be excused from attendance 
June 6th, on account of urgent busi­
ness. 

Mr. Burg·ess of Limestone, was 
granted unanimous consent to ad­
dress the House. 

Mr. BURGESS: Mr. Speaker, at 
the last regular session of this 
Legislature there was enacted what 
was known as the travelling bill, 
pertaining to all employees in the 
State, and you are all familiar with 
the details of the travelling bill, 
which started off, I beli-eve, with 
five cents a mile and reduced it 
finally to three. 

I speak now relative to employees 
of the State in the Agricultural De­
partment, or those who are in­
spectors, and due to the conditions 
under which they operate and due 
mostly to the fact that not one cent 
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of tax money goe.. into their ex­
penses-they are paid entirely from 
fe·es which the farmers pay to the 
Agricultural Department. and it 
represents no saving at all on the 
part of the State-I have prepared 
here an amendment to the bill 
changing the particular set-up, and 
at this time I would ask the unani­
mous consent of the House to intro­
duce this measure. 

The SPEAKER: The Clerk will 
read the title of the Bill. 

At this point the Senate entered 
the hall, amid the applause of the 
Hous,e, the members rising, and a 
Joint Convention was formed, in 
accordance with a Resolution (S. P. 
740) (L. D. 1236) passed by both 
branches of the Legislature provid­
ing for a Joint Convention for the 
purpose of considerin~ the adoption 
of an address to the Gov,ernor for 
the removal from office of Belmont 
A. Smith, Treasurer of the State of 
Maine. 

In Joint Convention 
(The President of the Soenate in 

the Chair) 
The Convention was called to 

order by the President. 
The Secretary called the roll. 
Present: Senators Beckett, Booth­

by, Boucher, Burns, Chamberlain, 
Chase of Piscataquis, Chase of 
Washington, Cony, Dorr, Dow, El­
liot. Findlen, Friend, Graves, Har­
killS, Hill, Kennedy, Laughlin, Lew­
is, Littlefield, Marden, Morse, Owen, 
Sanborn, Sewall, Spear, Thatcher, 
Tom]?kins, Wentworth, Worthen. 

Representatives: Arzonico, Ayotte, 
Bacon, Batchelder, Bates, Belanger, 
Bird, Bolduc, Bragdon, Brown of 
Caribou, Brown of Corinna, Brown 
of Eagle Lake, Bubar, Burbank, 
Burgess of Limestone, Butler, 
Chandler, Churchill, C I e a v e s, 
Clough, Cook of Lewiston, Cowan, 
Crockett, Cushing, Davis, Dean, De­
Beck, Dennison, Donahue, Dorrance, 
Dorsey, Douglass, Dow of Norway, 
Downs, Dwinal, Eddy, Ellis, Emery, 
Erswell, Farwell, Fernald, Fowles, 
Good, Goss, Grua, Hall, Hanold, 
Haskell, Hawes, Hildreth, Hinckley, 
Hinman, Hodgkins, Holden, Holman, 
Howes, Hussey, Jewett, Jordan, 
Keene, Labbee, LaFleur, Lambert, 
Larrabee, Latno, Leveque, Lord, 
Luro, MacNichol, Mahon, Marshall, 
Maxim, McGillicuddy, McGlauflin, 
McNamara, Melanson, Mercier, Me­
serve, Miller, Mills, Murchie, Nor­
wood, Noyes, Otto, Palmeter, Paul, 
Payson, Peakes, Pelletier, Philbrick, 

Plummer, Poulin of Waterville, 
Pratt, Preble, Race, Richardson, Rob­
bins, Robie, Robinson of Bingham, 
Robinson of Peru, Robinson of So. 
Portland, Shesong, Slosberg, Smith 
of Thomaston, Smith of Westbrook, 
Snow of Dover-Foxcroft, Snow of 
Hermon, Stacy, Starrett, Stilphen, 
Sylvia, Tardif, Thompson, Town­
send, Varney, Violette, Walker, Wal­
lace, Weed, Weatherbee, Welch, Wil­
liams, Winter, Worth, Young of 
Acton. 

Absent: Senator: Cook. 
Representatives: Babin, Barter, 

Buzzell, Dow of Eliot, Dow of Ken­
nebunkport, Everett, Fogg, Ford, 
Merrifield, Pike of Lubec, Porell, 
Poulin of Rumford, Ramsdell, Ste­
vens, Whitney, Winslow. 

(At this point, at the request of 
the President of the Senate, the 
Speaker of the House assumed the 
Chair as Chairman of the Conven­
tion.) 
MRS. RUTH R. BAGLEY, Sworn 

Direct Examination 
(By Mr. Gillin) 

Q. Will you state your name? 
A. Ruth R. Bagley. 
Q. You are employed in the 

Treas Ul'y Department? 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. How long have you been em­

ployed there? 
A. Temporarily since 1918 and 

permanently since 1937. 
Q. Is there in that office a regis­

ter on which is entered the amounts 
of allotments which are made from 
the warrants of the Governor and 
Council covering the expenditures of 
appropria tions? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And whether or not there was 

posted on that register the quarter­
ly allotments as they are made by 
warrants from the Governor and 
Council from annual appropriations? 

A. I didn't hear your question. 
Q. Whether or not the quarterly 

allotments made by warrant of the 
Governor and Council on annual 
appropriations are posted in the reg­
ister? 

A. The warrants are posted daily. 
Q. In that register? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Have you mli,de, at my re­

quest, a compilation of the total 
warrants as they appeared on that 
register for the years 1938, 1939 and 
194D? 

A. I have taken various days for 
1937, 1938, 1939 and 1940, different 
amounts showing the fluctuation 
from day to day. 
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(Defendants' Exhibit No.3, being 
compilation of warrants, marked) 

Q. Handing you doc u men t 
marked Defendants' Exhibit No.3, I 
ask if it is a tabulation from the 
register showing allotments appear­
ing on the register, reflecting the 
quarterly allotments made by the 
Governor and Council? 

A. It is. 
Q. Do I understand that com­

pila tion reflects the totals of the 
quarterly warrants covering allot­
ments? 

A. Those warrants I have taken 
there are as of one date. One date 
I remember is August 8th, consist­
ing of 12 warrants and gives a total 
of the warrants and those warrants 
go from $40,000 to a million dollars. 
They vary. This one date I remem­
ber. Those are by days. 

Q. That is what I mean. 
Mr. GILLIN: If the court please, 

this evidence is introduced out of 
order to save time and I am about 
to offer some evidence now, the ad­
missibility of which is going to be 
objected to, but if admissible, the 
form of introduction is not objected 
to. I desire to show by this class of 
evidence this situation, that the 
handling of the State funds in 
banks, because of the wide spread 
of the collecting in departments, in­
stitutions and agencies of the State 
government all over the State makes 
both necessary, proper and expedi­
ent the depositing as permitted by 
statute by departments and institu­
tions located away from Augusta of 
receipts received by them as they 
are taken in, whicr. funds are 
eventually distributed by and under 
the warrants of the Governor and 
Council. Accounting for the situa­
tion wherein at times certain of the 
depositories scattered throughout 
the State reached a figure which is 
in excess of 25% of the capital and 
surplus of those banks, cannot be 
controlled by the Treasury Depart­
ment which does not know from day 
to day what deposits are made by 
those departments and institutions. 
This parti,~ular evidence shows how 
those funds, as they accumu­
late, are continually being reduced. 
It shows a situation where the 
State, as it has a large number of 
depositories, the balances which are 
fluctuating up and down quite free­
ly and more or less out of control 
by the central head in Augusta be­
ca"se deposits which are made, for 
instance in Aroostook County last 
night, are not known to the Treas-

ury Department until today. I 
should like, under the liberal rule 
which governs the introduction of 
evidence here, to be permitted to 
show documents from which counsel 
may argue their views as to whether 
or not the deposits over 2E % of cap­
ital and surplus in some banks from 
time to time is or is not in viola­
tion of the statute, which has a pro­
vision that the limitation does not 
apply to deposits which are being 
expended by warrants. 

I will say frankly that at this 
time I would have to appeal some­
what to the application of the same 
rule of liberality, general liberality, 
in an attempt to get the complete 
picture before the Convention here 
as to just what situation exists. It 
is evidence that of course would 
be harmful to the prosecution, and 
the prosecution cannot be harmed. 
It is a type of evidence which I 
think in justice to the respondent or 
the defendant here should go into 
the evidence to make up the com­
plete picture. I therefore offer this 
evidence. 

The CHAIRMAN: Do you care 
to be heard, Mr. Brown? 

Mr. BROWN: I might simply say 
I have been so overwhelmed with 
Mr. Gillin's persuasiveness that I 
have changed my own position. I 
will withdraw that objection. 

The CHAIRMAN: The Chair 
feels, if it correctly understands De­
fendant's Exhibit 3, that it is 
similar in nature to Proponents' Ex­
hibit 41 which was admitted yes­
terday over Mr. Gillin's objection, 
partly on the ground it was an 
original office record, the authen­
ticity of which had been attested by 
competent witnesses, and partly, as 
suggested by counsel, the objection 
that a fairly liberal view should be 
taken of evidence on which there 
is discretion by the presiding officer. 
Defendant's Exhibit 3 is therefore 
admitted without objection for what 
it may be worth. 

Mr. GILLIN: Another point I 
would like to ask the witness, be­
cause I do not know exactly what I 
am going to ask: 

Q. (By Mr. Gillin) Handing you 
Defendant's Exhibit 3, and calling 
your attention to the first figure on 
it, which is March 30 and 31, 1939, 
$543,731.93, do I understand that on 
those dates that was the total of 
the drafts under the allotment of 
the Governor and Oouncil? 

A. It was the total of the war­
rants for those two days handed to 
us by the Controller's office. 
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Q. Which were honored on those 
dates by payment from the funds? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And everyone of those 

amounts indicate amounts that were 
expended from the State funds on 
the warrant of the Governor and 
Council? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. That is all, thank you. <Wit­

ness excused) 
MISS LILLIAN CHASE Recalled. 

Direct Examination 
(By Mr. Gillin) 

Q. Have you testified before, 
Miss Chase? 

A. I have. 
Q. And you are employed in the 

Treasury Department? 
A. I am. 
Q. And as a part of your duties 

do YOU assist in the handling of the 
money or checks which are received 
by the Treasury Department from 
the Controller's office refiecting 
revenue received by the Highway 
Department? 

A. I do. 
Q. And you confirm my under­

standing that with the passing into 
the Treasury of all the revenue of 
the Highway Department, whether 
by cash or by check, those remit­
tances are accompanied by wha t 
we term an income blank? 

A. They are. 
Q. On which is distributed by 

classification number and total the 
accounts on which that income is to 
be credited on the Treasurer's books? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And you confirm my under­

standing that all of the revenue 
from the Highway Department 
comes in under the general classi­
fication of "Highway Department", 
and that none of it on the income 
sheets which accompany the re­
mittances indicates what if any por­
tion of it is rec·eived from sales of 
commodities at the State Garage? 

A. That is true. 
Q. Now is it a fact that in remit­

ting to the Treasury Department a 
large number of the remitting agen­
cies, departments of the State, ac­
company their remittances with 
these carbon copies of receipts 
which were discussed yesterday 
here? 

A. We would receive those from 
institutions mostly and from de­
partments where they would have 
occasion to sell anything. That is 
just a receipt given to a customer, 
as I understand it, for anything that 
would be sold from that department. 
We get those mostly from the De-

partment of Agriculture, get them 
from the Fish & Game, get them 
from practically all of the institu­
tions. 

Q. And all of those institutions 
that you have mentioned also ac­
company their remittances by th(' 
usual income distribution? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Now while you have been in 

the Treasury Department have you 
ever received any instructions, or do 
you know of any rules and regula­
tions issued by the Controller or any 
other controlling department which 
impG~es upon anybody in the Treas­
ury Department the duty or the re­
sponsibility of even examining or 
handling such of those receipts that 
do come in with the remittances or 
distribution sheets? 

A. They have never been con­
sidered of any value to us. They are 
given by the departments, and if 
any question ever came up, nat­
urally they would go to that depart­
ment. All we are ever interested in 
is to see that the money received 
agrees with the income blank, and 
that is credited up on our cash book 
to the department. 

Q. SO that to the extent those 
receipts come in from the depart­
ments, you do not pay any attention 
to them? 

A. They meant nothing to us 
whatever. 

Q. And that is in accordance 
with what you understand the rules 
and regulations governing the 
handling of remittances, income and 
distribution sheets" 

A. Yes. 
Q. I would ask you this question: 

Whether the Highway Department, 
in sending these remittances in, so 
far as you know, ever includes with 
the remittances and the distribution 
sheet covering those remittances, 
any of these cash receipt slips? 

A. So far as I know, I could say 
positively that they never accom­
panied the Highway remittances. 

Q. From your own personal ob­
servation over the period of time 
that you have worked, have you ever 
seen one of those carbon copies of 
the receipts which we spoke of yes­
terday accompanying a remittance 
of any sort from the Highway De­
partment? 

A. I never have. 
Q. And is it a fact that the 

question of whether or not such re­
ceipts dId accompany such remit­
tances was the subject of conversa-
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tion prior to the hearing between 
you and Miss Currier of the Con­
troller's office? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And you heard Miss Currier 

on the stand yesterday? 
A. Yes, I did. 
Q. Testifying as to whether or 

not she dW send them In and to 
what extent. 

Now would you tell us what the 
conversation was between Miss Cur­
rier and you and who else partici­
pated in it? 

A. Mrs. Wheeler. 
Q. What was that conversatIOn 'I 
A. When I came up Miss Kelley 

said to me, "You don't act fright­
ened or nervous." And I said, "I 
am not awfully nervous about it. 
It is not a pleasant thing to dO.' 
Miss Currier spoke up and said, 
"I don't know what they called me 
up here for. I don't know what they 
want me to testify." 1 said, "They 
probably are gOing to ask you about 
those pink slips. You never brought 
those slips into our office." She said, 
"We don't call them sales slips, we 
call them receipts." I said, "What­
ever they are, those pink and blue 
sheets that accompany the income 
from the departments, you never 
brought them in with the High­
way." She said it was very seldom 
she did bring them and it was pos­
sibly once a week, and there would 
be so few you wouldn't notice them. 
That is all that was said, but, even 
if there were only one or two you 
COUldn't help notice them. 

Q. And you never noticed them '! 
A. I never noticed them come in. 
Q. SO to the extent Miss Currier 

testified yesterday she sent them in 
with her remittances, I understand 
you contradict her? 

A. I never saw any of them, ab­
solutely, with the Highway. 

Q. And as you observed the sit­
ua tion as an employee of the Treas­
ury Department, will you state what 
you considered to be the attitude of 
Mr. Winship and the employees in 
your department as to the authority 
and power of Controller Runnells 
while he was functioning? 

A. Well, we always felt that he 
had absolute power over our office, 
that anything he might suggest that 
we do we never hesitated about do­
ing it and when he came into the 
office we just feared him, that is all. 
If we couldn't give him the neces­
sary information quick enough that 
he wanted or if we weren't all at 

our desks at work we felt that it 
would be a black mark against us. 

Q. That is, you felt that he had 
complete authority, is that right 'I 

A. Yes. 
Q. Well, did you share the in­

feriority complex? 
A. I don't know that I would 

say that. 
Mr. GILLIN: You may examine. 

Cross Examination 
(By Mr. Brown) 

Q. Miss Chase, you have testi­
fied in regard to some conversation 
that you had with Miss Currier'? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And when did you have that 

conversation? 
A. That was Tuesday morning 

when we first came up to this as­
sembly. 

Q. When did you report this 
con versa tion to Mr. Gillin? 

A. That was yesterday. I believe 
that he was over there talking with 
us and he asked us about the sales 
slips, if we-

Q. Just a minute, Miss Chase, 1 
think you can answer my questions 
more briefly. When did you report 
this conversation that you had with 
Miss Currier to Mr. Gillin? 

A. It was yesterday noon, I be­
lieve, or yesterday forenoon. 

Q. You didn't report that to him 
last night? 

A. Absolutely I did not. 
Q. Or this morning? 
A. Absolutely I did not. 
Q. Now, did he seek you out to 

get this information or did you give 
it to him voluntarily? 

A. Absolutely I haven't seen Mr. 
Gillin, only in this room. 

Q. Well, did you volunteer that 
information to Mr. Gillin or was it 
the fact that during the discussion 
he approached you and it was talked 
over? 

A. I volunteered the information 
because I didn't like the attitude 
that she took in saying that there 
was possibly one or two and that 
we wouldn't notice it because if 
there had been one or two we would 
have noticed it just as much as if 
there had been fifty. 

Q. Now, Miss Chase, my recollec­
tion may be faulty, of course, but as 
I recall yesterday's proceedings it 
was well into the afternoon when 
Miss Currier testified. 

A. Well, I won't say absolutely it 
was after Miss Currier testified but 
I believe it was. It was when we 
were excused here and we girls sat 
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there and Mr. Gillin came over and 
said something about the slips and I 
up and told him what the conversa­
tion had been between us and Miss 
Currier. It was right there in that 
corner. I don't exactly remember 
what time of day it was yesterday. 
I think it was after she had testi­
fied. 

Q. That was the point I was try­
ing to make. Of course it would be 
a fact that you would not report 
that conversation to Mr. Gillin be­
fore Miss Currier testified because 
you had no reason to and since you 
must have reported it afterwards, in 
your judgment you wouldn't now 
state, would you, that probably last 
night was when you-

A. Absolutely not. I never saw 
Mr. Gillin last night, never spoke to 
him. 

Q. But the fact remains that you 
volunteered the information? 

A. I certainly did. 
Q. Whenever you did? 
A. Yes, whenever I did. It was 

some time yesterday, I don't recall 
when. 

Q. The receipts which come into 
your office such as we have been 
discussing, do you ever retain those 
in your files? 

A. Beg pardon. I didn't get that 
question. 

Q. The receipts which come into 
your office with deposits made by 
different departments, do you retain 
those for your files? 

A. No, we do not. 
Q. Do you know that it states on 

the pink carbon copies of those re­
ceipts that they are to be retained 
by your office? 

A. I do. 
Q. But regardless of that, they 

were not? 
A. They were not. 
Q. Now, you have stated under 

Mr. Gillin's examination that you 
assumed that Mr. Runnells had con­
trol of the affairs of your office. 

A. I did. 
Q. Did the other employees in 

the office take the same position? 
A. We all felt the same. 
Q. And so it was the general im­

pression in the Treasury department 
that the Controller had charge of 
the Treasurer's Department? 

A. He gave instructions. At the 
end of the month he would tell us 
when we could close our cash and 
if the head of the department O. K.'d 
a slip-

Q. Just a minute. I think you 
can answer that question a little 
more briefly, Miss Chase, as to 

whether that was the attitude of 
yourself and other employees in the 
department. 

A. From the first time that I 
went to work there I have always 
been under the impression that 
whatever he said pertaining to any­
thing about our office it was always 
done as he wished it to be done. 

Q. Did you ever receive the im­
pression from anyone that Mr. 
Smith had anything to do with the 
Treasury Department? 

A. Yes, I think that Mr. Smith, 
if he had known-

Q. Just a minute. I asked you if 
you ever received the impression 
from anyone that Mr. Smith had 
anything to do with the Treasury 
Department? 

A. Well, I knew he was Treas­
urer and naturally I did. 

Q. And knowing that he was 
Treasurer you and the other sub­
ordinates connected with the Treas­
ury still assumed that you should 
take orders from Mr. Runnells? 

A. Well, we just supposed that 
we should-

Q. Miss Chase, is that the fact? 
A. That is the fact. 
Q. SO consequently there was 

never any demonstration on the 
part of Mr. Smith so far as your­
self and other subordinates were 
concerned to indicate that he 
thought that he had something to 
do with the running of the Treas­
ury Department? 

A. Mr. Smith had no way of 
knowing anything about those 
thinf!;s-

Q. Just a minute, please. I ask 
you if there was ever any indication 
on the part of Mr. Smith to impress 
yourself and the other subordinates 
in the office that he was running 
the affairs of the Treasury? 

A. There certainly was. 
Q. And still regardless of that 

impression which Mr. Smith at­
tempted to make-

Mr. GILLIN: Leave out the word 
"attempted". please. 

Mr. BROWN: Pardon me. I will 
make a new start. 

Mr. GILLIN: That's it. 
Q. Regardless of the impression 

which Mr. Smith made upon you 
that he had something to do with 
the running of the Treasury De­
partment you still considered that 
Mr. Runnells was the man who had 
the last say in the Treasury Depart­
ment, did you? 

A. Yes, we did. Had the last say 
with everything in the department. 

Mr. GILLIN: Mr. Chairman, I 
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cbject. The witness did not finish 
her answer. I would like to have 
the question read and the witness 
permitted to answer fully. 

(Question read) 
A. Yes, we did. We all-
Mr. BROWN: Just a minute. Of 

course, Mr. Chairman, it is a techni­
cal fact that I put this witness on 
f.nd it is also apparent that this 
witness is a hostile witness. Now, 
I am entitled to confine her answers 
to the questions which I ask and 
Mr. Gillin can do his cross examin­
ing in his turn. 

Mr. GILLIN. I didn't raise the 
question, Mr. Chairman, as to the 
form of my brother's question. I 
don't care what form he puts the 
ouestion in. My only objection is 
that he has the habit and does in­
terrupt the witnesses before they 
can complete their answers and this 
is an instance of it. I think I am 
right. He has just made the state­
ment, completely unfair as I see it, 
that this witness is hostile, and as 
a matter of record I protest that 
statement. I don't want him to call 
any witness hostile until he has 
demonstrated that fact. 

The CHAIRMAN: You may pro­
ceed, Mr. Brown. 

Q. Now, Miss Chase, regardless 
of the fact that Mr. Smith informed 
you and other subordinates that he 
had some responsibility for the 
functions of the Treasury Depart­
ment, you still considered that Mr. 
Runnells was the directing head, as 
I understand it? 

A. Yes, we did. 
Q. Would you say that this im­

pression made upon you by Mr. 
Smith was done in a forceful man­
ner on his part? What I mean is 
this, to cl·ear the matter up: Did 
you ever know Mr. Smith to take 
the stand that he would run his own 
department? 

A. Yes, I have. 
Q. And even in view of that and 

knowing that, and knowing that Mr. 
Smith was Treasurer, yourself and 
the other subordinat·es in the office 
still considered that Mr. Runnells 
was running the Treasury Depart­
ment? 

A. We felt that he could run 
anything in the State House that 
he wanted to. 

Q. Now. Miss Chas.e, you say, 
"We felt that he could run every­
thing". Does that include Mr. 
Smith? 

A. That includes everyone that 
works in the State House, almost, 
I should think. 

Q. So would you go so far as to 
say that Mr. Smith also had the im­
pression that Mr. Runnells was run­
ning his d·epartment? 

Mr. GILLIN: I object to that for 
it's obvious unfairness and because 
it is not a competent question. 

The CHAIRMAN: The witness 
is not Qualified to answer that. 

Q. Do you know how Mr. Smith 
looked at the proposition as to who 
was the responsible head of his de­
partment? 

Mr. GILLIN: I object to that for 
the same reasons. 

Mr. BROWN: I asked if she 
knew. 

Mr. GILLIN: Of course she can't 
give Mr. Smith's views. 

Mr. BROWN: I asked her if she 
knows the position that Mr. Smith 
took. I am entitJ.ed to have that 
answered Yes or No. 

The OHAIRMAN: The Chair will 
allow her to answer Yes or No. 

(Question read) 
Mr. GILLIN: I object to that. 
The CHAIR..l\iAN: Answer Yes or 

No. 
Q. (Question read) 
A. Mr. Smith consid·ered that he 

was the-
The CHAIRMAN: Yes or No. 
A. Yes. I do. 
The CHAIRMAN: If you are go­

ing to continue on that line, Mr. 
Brown, the Chair suggests that you 
ask the witness upon what she bases 
her opinion, whether upon facts or 
merely guesswork. 

Q. You have stated that you do 
know? Is your answer Yes or No 
to that Question? 

A. Yes. 
Mr. BROWN: I don't see any ne­

cessity of pursuing that further. 
Redirect Examination 

(By Mr. Gillin) 
Q. With respect to these slips, is 

it true your job, when you rec~ived 
this income sheet. was to take It to 
the Treasurer's office and post it on 
your books to the right department? 

A. That is what our duty was, to 
check the money with the income 
blank and give credit to the proper 
department. 

Q. Whether or not you had com­
plete, full and detailed information 
which ena.bled you to do those two 
things, taking it in and crediting it 
to the right department from the 
income sheet? 

A. Yes. 
Q. So far as to either of these 
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things, these slips did not assist you 
at all? 

A. Not a bit. 
Q. Whether or not you attended 

to the billing out for taxes? 
A. Yes. I do. 
Q. And with respect to the taxes 

to banks and to railroads. what did 
you do in conneetion with billing 
the taxpayer for those taxes? 

A. On the railroads. there ar,e 
three notices sent to the companies 
calling their attention to the tax. 

Q. Would you attend to the send­
ing out of those notices? 

A. I do. 
Q. Woere those notices sent out to 

all banks and railroad companies 
which are in arrears on taxes when 
Mr. Smith came into office? 

A. From 1937 I can answer yes; 
that is the time I have been em­
ployed there, since 1937. 

Q. Did Mr. Runnells have occas­
ion while you were in the depart­
ment to check up the functioning 
of your department with respect to 
bookke,eping and handling vouchers 
and posting of various items? 

A. Our cash book-
Mr. BROWN: I object. 
Mr. GILLIN: The reason for 

that is this: The statement has 
been made that he was more or less 
supreme. I wish to show to some 
extent on what that was based. It 
has already been testified that he 
had control of the set-up of depart­
ment bookkeeping. vouchers, etc. I 
was asking the witness if he did 
exercise the authority in that de­
partment. 

(Question read) 
The CHAIRMAN: You may ask 

the witness as to anything Mr. Run­
nells did. 

(By Mr. Gillin) 
Q. What if anything did Mr. 

Runnells do by way of inspecting or 
directing things in the department 
or handling books or vouchers or 
other documents? 

A. Well. I wouldn't say to that 
that he supervised any of that. Our 
offices worked in conjunction with 
one another. We received the in­
come and Mr. Berry in his depart­
ment uses our cash book to draw 
off the credits that have h2en given 
to the different appropriations. 

Q. The group in your office. 
headed by Mr. Winship. and consist­
ing of yourself and the other girls, 
whether or not that group took full 
chRrg'e of taking in all cash and the 
bookk,eeping of that cash? 

A. That is right. 

Q. And Mr. Smith had very little 
to do with that functioning of that 
internal group? 

A. I would say he had little to do 
with the detail. 

Q. Isn't it a fact because of the 
close contact between your office and 
Mr. Runnells, there were frequent 
contacts between Mr. Runnells and 
the group in your office? 

A. Yes. 
Q. Isn't it a fact that it was the 

situatIOn that Mr. Smith did not in­
terfere with the suuordinates in the 
office in regard to the taking in of 
the cash and depositing the cash, 
and, as you expressed it, Mr. Run­
nells was to some extent in control 
of the department? 

A. That is true. 
Q. That is the basis of your an­

swer. 
Mr. GILLIN: No further ques­

tions. 
FREDERICK ROBIE, Recalled 

Direct Examination 
(By Mr. Gillin) 

(Exhibit 4, Defendants-marked) 
Q. Your name is Frederick Ro­

bie? 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. You were on the stand yes­

terday and have been recalled by 
me this morning? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Whether or not at my request 

you have examined the books of ac­
count in your Office as Secretary of 
State on which is carried and dis­
tributed the income taken in by your 
dEpartment from your main and 
branch offices which receive money 
for the registration of motor vehicles 
and the licensing of operators? 

A. I have the distribution of the 
branch Offices. I haven't the main 
office. 

Q. Handing you Defendant's Ex­
hibit 4, I would ask you if that is a 
statistical compilation of the month­
ly receipts of the branch offices over 
the years 1937 to 1940, inclusive, 
summarized by general totals, as 
shown on the first page of the ex­
hibit? 

A. Yes. 1940 is to June 1st. 
Q. Could you give approximately 

the amount of money which was 
taken in by the main offices at 
Portland, Bangor, Auburn, Presque 
Isle, Rockland and Calais for the 
year 1937? 

A. About $3,700,000 I believe. I 
can get that fairly accurate for 
you III a very short time. 
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Mr. GILLIN: For the same pur­
pose, Mr. Chairman, as I introduced 
Defendant's Exhibit 4, which indi­
cated the volume of outgo from the 
Treasury for the inclusive dates ap­
pearing on that report, I should 
like now to submit evidence of two 
large departments, and at this time 
put in evidence from the Secretary 
of State's Department indicating 
the rate and volume of income re­
ceived by that department from the 
various sources of revenue. 

The CHAIRMAN: Is there any 
objection, Mr. Brown? 
(Defendant's Exhibit No.4, admit­

ted without objection) 

ALVIN T. WILKINSON, Sworn 
Direct Examination 

(By Mr. Gillin) 
Q. I am going to impose upon 

you, Mr. Wilkinson, to the extent 
of helping me make a few computa­
tions with respect to trust fund ac­
counts. Are you equipped with pen­
cil and pad there? 

A. I am. 
Q. Yesterday there was read by 

permisslOn, from the report of Ernst 
& Ernst, the portfolios in the case 
of the following trust funds: Au­
gusta State Hospital, Coburn Fund; 
Western Maine Sanatorium, Levi 
Stewart Fund' State Military and 
Naval Children's Home, admmis­
tration account. Now I should like 
to have you, if you will, reduce the 
total of securities in the Coburn 
fund, which are not state or munic­
ipal investments-will you give that 
amount? 

A. The Coburn Fund securities 
were $50,000. 

Q. What portion of that is in 
municipal or federal bonds-or what 
securities in that portfOliO are not 
securities issued by federal or state 
or mUnIcipal government? 

A. In my opinion, the $25,000 of 
the Portland Water District. 

Q. Will you put that down on 
your pad, please. Now, if you will 
please turn to Western Maine Sana­
torium, Levi Stewart Fund. Would 
you, by reference to your report, 
state the number of securities by 
name and amount in that porttolio 
which are securities other than fed­
eral securities, state securities or 
municipal securities? 

A. The Portland Terminal Com­
pany, $2000; Southern Pacific Com­
pany, $5000; Pittsburgh and West 
Virginia Railroad Company, $5000; 
Canadian National Railway Com-

pany, $5000; Phillips Water Com­
pany, $5000; Republic of Cuba, $5000. 

Q. Would you compute the total 
of the listed value of those securi­
tj.es as the second figure on your 
pad? 

A. You wish the total of those I 
have just called? 

Q. Yes. 
A. $27,000. 
Q. Please turn to the State Mili­

tary and Naval Children's Home ad­
ministration account. Would you 
read from that portfOliO the invest­
ments which are not either federal, 
state, mUnIcipal or county bonds? 

A. Portland Railroad Company, 
$2000; Leadville Water Company, 
$1000, and a group of securities of 
the United PubliC Utilities Corpora­
tion carried at $250. 

Q. What is the total of those 
securities? 

A. $3,250. 
Q. Will you give me the total 

of all of the securities in those 
three funds which you have read? 

A. The total of all, including 
those which were legal and those 
which were not? 

Q. The totals of the securities 
you have read to me? 

A. $55,250. 
Q. That is, in those three funds 

there are $55,250 of securities which 
are neither federal, state, mUnIClpal 
or county or savings bank or time 
depOSits? 

A. That is right. 
Q. Will you give me the total of 

the entire portfoliOS added together 
in those three accounts? 

A. Excluding the cash? 
Q. Including the cash. 
A. $131,812.10. 
Q. Now have you in mind or 

have you a notation as to the names 
of the funds which yesterday, by 
opinion, were testified to be perma­
nent funds? 

A. My understanding was that 
these three funds were the only ones 
which were. 

Q. Do yOU recall yesterday other 
funds were designated permanent 
funds by opinion of Mr. Cowan? 

A. I do not understand the ques-
tion. 

Q. You have not got that? 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Now would you give me the 

total of all of the portfolios in all 
of the trust funds except the Teach­
ers Retirement Fund? 

Mr. BROWN: I shall object to 
that, Mr. Chairman. I cannot see 
the materiality of it. The only 
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thing in question here are the in­
vestments in three particular trust 
funds. That is all there is in issue. 
I object to the introduction of evi­
dence as to the value of securities 
in any trust funds which are not 
under discussion. 

Mr. GILLIN: The purpose of that 
evidence was not, I think, as my 
brother apparently thought it was. 
There is testimony that Mr. Smith 
gave his attention to the investment 
portfolios of all these funds, that 
he had charge of investments. As 
a matter of background I would like 
to state briefly and give a picture 
of the extent and scope of that total 
investment portfolio, of what it was 
worth. 

The CHAIRMAN: Does the Chair 
understand that the counsel claims 
the difference in the two figures 
would not be argued as to legality? 

Mr. GILLIN: May I say I would 
not arg'ue the difference between the 
two figures would be contested as 
to legality, 

The CHAIRMAN: Then the wit­
ness may answer the question. 

Mr. GILLIN' I do reserve the 
right to argue whether it would be 
considered a legal investment or 
not. 

Q. (By Mr. Gillin) Have you got 
that figure, Mr. Wilkinson? 

A. Yes, I have. 
Q. Would you state it? 
A. Excluding the amount of se­

curities in the state Teachers Re­
tirement fund, the total of securi­
ties in the trust funds at June 30, 
1939-

Q, And the cash. 
A. And the cash-I have exclud­

ed the cash. 
Q. You misunderstood me. I 

asked you to include it. Now have 
you got the total, Mr, Wilkinson? 

A. Yes, I have. 
Q, And would you state it? 
A. Excluding the amount of cash 

and securities in the Maine Teach­
ers Retirement fund, the total cash 
and securities in all other trust 
funds at June 30, 1939 was $2,224,-
693.26, 

Q. And I would ask you at re­
cess-we won't take the time now, 
to either confer with Mr. Brown, 
who can give you the necessary 
facts, :>r get it from the record-and 
it does not make any difference to 
me-and ascertain the trust funds 
which yesterday Mr. Cowan testi­
fied in his opinion were permanent, 
all of them. ane' to take such funcls 
and give me the total portfolios in 
each of those funds. I believe there 

are nine of them. Include both the 
securit,ies in them and the cash in 
them, and later I will question you 
on them again. 

Mr. GILLIN: One stipulation 
which I think we can make by 
agreement: 

It is stipulated that the Revised 
,c::tatutes of Maine and the Public 
Laws of 1931 may be considered as 
exhibits in the evidence and that 
counsel may be at liberty to discuss 
or read any part or parts thereof. 

The CHAIRMAN: It is stipulated 
by agreement of counsel. 

Mr. GILLIN: And that includes, 
incidentally. the Constitution. 

The CHAIRMAN: The Conven­
tion may be at ease for ten minutes. 

Convention at Ease 
FREDERICK ROBIE, Recalled 

Redirect Examination 
(By Mr. Gillin) 

Q. Now. Mr. Robie during· recess 
did you make a compilation from 
your record as Secr'etary of State as 
to the total receipts of your main 
offices in Portland. Bangor. Auburn, 
Presque Isle, Rockland and Calais, 
which compilation was the total 
receipts taken in by those main of­
fices in the years 1937. 1938. 1939 
and 1940 respectively? 

A. Yes. 
Q. Will you read the amount the 

main offices took in in 1937? 
A. $1.662.262.06. 
Q. And in 1938? 
A. $1,451,089.20. 
Q. And in 1939? 
A. $1,302.251.57. 
Q. And in 1940? 
A. $1.087.261.38. 
Q. Did you also add the total re­

ceipts of both the main and branch 
offices for those years? 

A. Yes. 
Q. Will you read those figures for 

1937? 
A. $3.836.003.65. 
Q. In 1938? 
A. $3,552.553.24. 
Q. And in 1939? 
A. $3.764,431.00. 
Q. And 1940? 
A. 1940 to June 1. $3,550,587.36. 
Mr. GILLIN: Mr. Speaker, I am 

adding the sheet 0]1 which are car­
ried the figures that Mr. Robie has 
read with the totals as I have dis­
cussed them. to Defendant's Exhibit 
NO.4 which gives a complete picture 
both of the totals and of the break­
down of the main and branch office 
receipts of the office of Secretary of 
State for the years 1937 to 1940 in-
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clusive. The exhibit in its original 
form. as I understand, was offered 
and admitted and this is merely an 
addition of the main office receipts 
and the grand totals, and I will re­
offer the exhibit with this addition. 

The CHAIRMAN: Is there any 
objection. Mr. Brown? 

Mr. BROWN: No, Mr. Speaker, I 
think not. 

The CHAIRMAN: Admitted with­
out objection. 

Mr. GILLIN: Thank you, Mr. 
Robie. 

Mr. Ohairman, subject to possible 
inadvertence I have now produced 
all of the evidence that the defense 
is to introduce prior to Mr. Smith's 
testimony. The '3tate yesterday 
asked permission to put in some 
consolidations out of order and I 
would like if possible to have the 
State's case completed before I go 
on with mv final witness. 

The CHAIRMAN: Are you ready 
to do that. Mr. Brown? 

Mr. GILLIN: There was one fig­
ure that Mr. Wilkinson was asked 
to produce during the recess which 
is not here and I will put that in 
when it comes in. 

EVERETT W. DOWNS, Recalled 
Redirect Examination 

(By Mr. Brown) 
Q. You are the Deputy Treas­

urer of state? 
A. That is right. 
Q. I believe I asked you last 

night to go over the records in the 
Treasury office and tell me all of the 
trust funds which have been pur·· 
chased by the Treasury office since 
Mr. Smith has been in office; that 
is, since January 4 1937 to last 
Tuesday, I beJi.eve? 

A. Yes. I attempted to comply 
with that request and found it im­
possible to obtain the information 
which yoU asked for on the two 
funds which you asked for in addi­
tion to the list which yoU took from 
me last night and I accordingly 
asked the departments. the respec­
tive departments handling those 
funds. to furnish me with the list, 
which list I have with me but to 
the correctness of which I cannot 
swear. 

Q. Well, just a minute to s·ee if 
I understand you. Do yOU mean 
that there was in the Treasurer's 
office no record of these trust funds 
purchased during January 4, 1937? 

A. No. No p~rmanent record of 
the purchase of the trust funds. 
That is right: those two funds. 

Mr. BROWN: That is all. 

Recross Examination 
(By Mr. Gillin) 

Mr. GILLIN: There is a record 
in the Treasurer's office, a register 
or some other type of book in which 
is carried all of the securities in all 
of the funds ~ 

A. Will you repeat the question? 
(Question read) 
Q. Do you know? 
A. The answer is no, qualifiedly. 

I have here the only record which I 
have been abl·e to find in the Treas­
ury office, which is a pencil record 
of Mr. Winship's which I mentioned 
last night. That is, in substance, 
an inventory of the securities in 
each of the trust funds for the end 
of the fiscal period. I have two lists. 
One is at the end of the fiscal period 
of 1936 and one at the end of the 
fiscal period for 1939. 

Q. Have you seen this document 
which I am now going to show you 
entitled: "State of Maine, Treasury 
Department, Schedule of Bonds and 
Stocks Held for Trust Funds. Trust 
Deposits and Guaranty Deposits" 
which was. until I brought it in 
here, one of the documents in the 
Treasury Department? 

A. You mean the list compiled as 
an inventory by Mr. Foss of the 
Banking Department? 

Q. Yes. 
A. I have seen that. yes, sir. 
Q. Have you any question as to 

the correctness of the inventory of 
the securities? 

A. I have not. 
Q. That is a document of the 

Treasurer's office? 
A. It was up until-
Q. And still is, but temporarily 

in my possession? 
A. Y·8S. 
Q. So in answer to the question 

that you were not. able to find any­
thing but the two documents which 
you have indicated, one in pencil 
reflecting the security situation. 
there was a document in my posses­
sion belonging to the Treasury De­
partment? 

A. That document would not 
permit me to determine any securi­
ties bought within that period, as 
to the date bought or anything of 
that nature. 

Q. You ventured the information 
that you were unable to find in the 
Treasury Department any record of 
the securities except two reports, 
one of which you volunteered was 
partly made in pencil. Is that cor-
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rect? Do you understand the ques­
tion? 

A. I don't think I do. 
Q. Didn't you just a few mo­

ments ago say you were unable to 
find in the Treasury Department 
any record except the two docu­
ments you have in your hand, one 
of which is in pencil? 

A. That is right. 
Q. And I had a list in here. Have 

you checked the securities since you 
have been Deputy Treasurer? 

A. You mean have I inspected 
them? No. 

Q. How long have you been 
Deputy Treasurer. 

A. Since May 1st. 
Q. This list of securities in the 

Maine Teachers Retirement Asso­
ciation and listed under the title: 
"SecuritIes purchased since January 
1937, called or sold since that date," 
who compiled that? 

A. The lady whose name is on 
the front sheet in the Education De­
partment. 

Q. Did she compile all of It? 
A. She did, this morning. 
Q. Does that have reference only 

to the Teachers Retirement Associa­
tion? 

A. That is right. 
Q. Didn't you give me another 

document? 
A. The other one is a blue sheet. 
Q. On this memorandum to Mr. 

Downs from C. A. Douglass, Depart­
ment Auditor, under date ot June 
6, have you had an opportunity to 
check the actual securities in that 
fund? 

A. I have not. 
Q. That is furnished you on your 

request from the Department Audi­
tor, Mr. Douglass? 

A. This morning, yes, sir. 
Redirect Examination 

(By Mr. Brown) 
Q. To straighten out a matter 

that I am confused about. I did 
ask you to make a list last night of 
the trust fund purchases since Jan­
uary 4, 1937, as they appeared of 
record m the Treasurer's Office? 

A. That is right. 
Q. I understood you to state you 

made a search for that record. Is 
that correct? 

A. That is right. 
Q. Did you find a record of such 

purchases in the Treasurer's office? 
A. I did not. 

Q. And what has this document 
that Mr. Gillin now has, which he 
says was out of the office at the time 
you made your search, to do with 
that? Has it anything to do with it? 
Let me ask it this way: If the docu­
ment which Mr. Gillin now has had 
been in the office, would you have 
been able to make that list? 

A. I think not. 

MR. WILKINSON, Recalled 

Redirect Examination 

(By Mr. Gillin) 

Q. Mr. Wilkinson, can you now 
give us the total of the portfolio in­
cluding the securities, time deposits, 
and savings bank dep"osits in all of 
the trust funds which yesterday Mr. 
Cowan testified were permanent 
trust funds in his opinion? Have 
you the total '? 

A. I have. 
Q. Will you give that? 
A. Including the three to which 

1 have previously testified, the to­
tal of the seven funds which Mr. 
Cowan testified were, in his opinion, 
permanent funds is $395,244.84. 

Q. Thank you. 
Mr. BROWN: Mr. Chairman, I 

would like at thIS time to read two 
sections of the Revised Statutes of 
1931. Section 70 of Chapter 2. "The 
treasurer of state shall keep his of­
fice at the seat of government and 
give the bond required by the con­
stitution, to the state of Maine, with 
good and sufficient sureties residing 
therein or with two or more surety 
companies authorized to transact 
business therein, as sureties in the 
penal sum of not less than one hun­
dred and fifty thousand dollars. 
Provided that each surety or surety 
company shall give bond for only a 
fractional part of the total penal 
sum and shall be held responsible 
for its proportional share of any 
loss." I propose to read a few lines 
of section 71, because so far as I 
am concerned, the rest of the statute 
does not apply. "The condition of 
the bond shall be for the faithful 
discharge of all the duties of his of­
fice and the fidelity of all persons 
by him entrusted with any of its 
concerns ... " 

Stipulation: It is stipulated and 
agreed that the bond complying 
with these provisions has been filed 
by the Treasurer. 
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BELMONT SMITH, Sworn 
Direct Examination 

(By Mr. Gillin) 
Q. Would you state your name 

and place of residence? 
A. Belmont Smith, Bangor. 
Q. And what is your official ca­

pacity in the State of Maine? 
A. State Treasurer. 
Q. When did you become State 

Treasurer? 
A. January 4, 1937. 
Q. Prior to that time you have 

been a member of the Governor's 
Council? 

A. In 1925 and 1926. 
Q. You have served one or more 

terms in the Legislature? 
A. I have. 
Q. When you became State 

Treasurer, Mr. Smith, did you find 
in the office an organization con­
sisting of Mr. Winship, who had 
been deputy treasurer under your 
predecessor, and a staff of girls who 
had been in that organization under 
your predecessor? 

A. I did. 
Q. And did you ascertain how 

long Mr. Winship had been working 
in the Treasury Department? 

A. I did. 
Q. And whether or not you made 

some check by investigation as to 
Mr. Winship and those subordi­
nates? 

A. I did. 
Q. Whether or not as a result of 

that, you appointed Mr. Winship 
deputy treasurer? 

A. I did. 
Q. And retained the staff that 

had been working under him before 
you came in? 

A. Right. 
Q. What is your salary as Treas­

urer of State? 
A. $3,000. 
Q. And what is Mr. Winship's 

salary? 
A. $3,900. 
Q. And whether or not since you 

have been Treasurer, yOU have per­
mitted Mr. Winship and that staff 
of assistants to handle to quite an 
extent exclusively matters of book­
keeping, handling of documents and 
vouchers, receiving and depOSiting 
cash? 

A. I have. 
Mr. BROWN: Just a minute. I 

do not understand the question, my­
self. He has asked if he allowed 
this force to handle to quite an ex­
tent exclusively. 

The CHAIRMAN: Perhaps Mr. 
Gillin can rephrase his qu,estion. 

Q. Whether or not, Mr. Smith, 
the bookkeeping, the handling of 
cash, vouchers, posting of figures 
and depositing of funds that came 
in over your counter was handled 
by Mr. Winship and his staff? 

A. To a very great extent. 
Q. Did you have much to do with 

it? 
A. Nothing with the bookkeeping. 
Q. And did you depend upon Mr. 

Winship and his staff to do that 
work? 

A. I did. 
Q. How old are you? 
A. Sixty-three. 
Q. Would you state generally 

the various classes of things that 
yOU did as Treasurer of State? 

A. Well, when I became Treas­
urer of State, of course I tried to 
familiarize myself with the workings 
of the department, to some extent 
the set UP. bookkeepers and what 
they were doing. I also discovered 
there wer,e many things perhaps 
pertaining to the duties of the 
Treasurer of State that were not 
confined entirely to the office. 

Q. Such as what? 
A. Taxes, some towns, interviews, 

banks. 
Q. And did you, as Treasurer of 

State, become a member of the 
board for municipal relief? 

A. I did. 
Q. The other members were Mr. 

Holley, Commissioner of Taxation, 
and Mr. Hayford, the State Auditor? 

A. Right. 
Q. When did the State get out 

its last bond issue? 
A. August 18, '39. 
Q. How big was it? 
A. One million. 
Q. Did you attend to the details, 

as Treasurer, of arranging for and 
getting' out that bond issue? 

A. I did. 
Q. And as an example of one of 

the things you did, just what did it 
involve, briefly? 

A, Well, it comes from the Gov­
ernor and Council, the authoriza­
tion for the sale, and then we had 
the bonds, the per cent which was 
agr,eed on by the Governor and 
Council, two per cent, and then abo 
in this last bond issue there wpre 
some personal contacts perhaps 
through the Merrill Trust Company, 
where we got a very big pr,emium. 

Q. What premium did you get? 
A. If my memo"y is right. 10532, 

a premium of about $53,000, 
Q, Whether or not yoU know that 

is a very respectable premium? 
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A. I think it is the largest of 
any bond. 

Q. Did you, while that trust in­
denture and bond issue were being 
worked out, attend to all the details 
in connection therewith in behalf 
of the State of Maine? 

A. Personally? 
Q. Yes. 
A. In connection with Mr. Win­

ship and other people in banks, and 
bonding people. 

Q. Approximately, and only ap­
proximately, how much money does 
the State of Maine expend annually, 
and I am now confining that ques­
tion to periods of 1937 to date--how 
much does the State expend? 

A. Approxim. tely forty-five mil­
lion dollars goes through the Treas­
ury. 

Q. And whether or not the sys­
tem of disbursing funds by the 
Treasury Department on checks pre­
pared in the Bur~au of Accounts 
and Control which were signed in 
facsimile by the Treasurer's signa­
ture was a system which had been 
installed prior to your becoming 
Treasurer? 

A. It was. 
Q. And approximately how many 

of such checks per year go through 
the Treasury Department? 

A. Approximately a million. 
Q. That approximation covers 

each of the years since you hav,e 
been Treasurer? 

A. These are the State checks. 
Q. And whether or not the actual 

mak'8-uP of those checks, the sign­
ing of those checks, and the rout­
ing of the checks through to the 
payee and the handling of the 
checks until they go to the payee, is 
something that has be-en done in 
the Controller's office and by the 
subordinates in your department 
after the Controller's office fur­
nishes them with the checks? 

A. Corr·ect. 
Q. And do you undertake to per­

sonally inspect the correctness of 
the handling of each one of those 
million checks a year? 

A. I do not. 
Q. That is something, I under­

stand, you have to rely on others 
to do? 

A. Correct. 
Q. Have you had occasion, since 

you have been Treasurer, to in­
spect anyone of those million 
checks that have been issued with 
your name on it in facsimile? 

A. I have not. 
Q. Now in connection with your 

duties as Treasurer and ex officio 

member of this municipal relief as­
sociation, have you given consider­
able time to assisting in the prOb­
lems WhICh confronted many of the 
towns of the State which have 
sought relief under that relief law? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And how many towns, would 

you say, have been in vol ved ? 
A. You mean at the present? 
Q. No. 
A. You mean how many is this 

Board operating? 
Q. Yes. 
A. Twelve. 
Q. And have you had occasion 

to visit each of the twelve towns? 
A. Most of them. 
Q. And have you in some in­

stances been the only member of 
the Board who in the first instance 
was sent out to investigate and ini­
tially handle the problems of some 
of these towns? 

A. To make the investigation; I 
have. 

Q. And has that required con­
siderable time? 

A. Why, I know at Eastport 1 
went down there at the request of 
the Board. I think I was there for 
three days with the city government 
and the citizens. 

Q. Is it a fact that those towns 
which seek relief do so because of 
the predicament they find them­
selves in caused by a lack of revenue 
or cash and the preSSing demands 
of creditors and the immediate lo­
cal needs, such as schools and pau­
per supplies? 

Mr. BROWN: Just a moment. It" 
he knows? 

Mr. GILLIN: You know that to 
be so? 

A. I do. 
Q. <By Mr. Gillin) What does 

the Board do in the first instance 
on going into a town that is in that 
predicament? 

A. Usually a petition from the 
town, either the selectmen or the 
citizens. 

Q. And what do you do? 
A. We hold a meeting with the 

citizens. 
Q. Just describe briefly an inci­

dent. 
A. That is about it. We make 

investigation, the audit department 
makes an investigation, and, after 
that, if they decide to take it over, 
they take it over. 

Q. And what do you do about 
keeping the creditors off? 

A. Everything is suspended from 
the date that we take over the town. 
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Q. And does that require contact 
by you and other members of the 
Board with bondholders and general 
creditors? 

A. Quite a good many contacts. 
Q. Now whether or not in the 

last three years or since you have 
been State Treasurer, the tax situa­
tion with respect to the towns pay­
ing their State tax has been an 
acute one for many towns? 

A. It has. 
Q. And how acute has that prob­

lem been to many towns? 
A. Many of the towns were back 

for a good many years on their 
taxes. We have some towns back to 
'35. 

Q. How does that embarrass, let 
us say, the towns? How acute does 
that situation become to the town? 

A. You mean the enforcing of 
the taxes? 

Q. Yes. 
A. For the State to collect those 

taxes, with no credit, probably the 
schools would have to close in many 
of those towns. 

Q. And whether or not as State 
Treasurer that situation with re­
spect to a large number of towns 
has required your contact with and 
investigation of the situation in 
many towns other than those seek­
ing rellef, to see whether the dis­
tress is acute enough to give the 
towns a break in the matter of 
promptly paying their taxes? 

A. It has. 
Q. And whether or not it has 

been a policy which you have fol­
lowed of t'cmporarily sacrificing the 
State's collections in order that the 
towns might have current funds to 
keep their schools open? 

Mr. BROWN: Just a minute. ThIS 
is not directed to the purpose for 
which I thought it was. I thought 
the purpose of this examination was 
to show Mr Smith had no time to 
devote to his Treasurer's office. 
Now I find, or else I am impressed 
with the fact that it is an attempt 
to excuse him for not collecting 
particular taxes. Now he is not 
charged with the failure to collect 
any local taxes; he is only charged 
on the bank tax and with one rail­
road tax. I object to this evidence 
going in as to why he did not en­
force the collection of the munic­
ipal tax. 

Mr. GILLIN: I apparently have 
mislead my Brother. Might I stat·e 
why thIS evidence is introduced? 

The question has been raised, at 
least interentially, that the treas-

urership is more or less of a figure­
head or a sinecure position, and 
some of the questions my Brother 
asked some of the subordinates in 
the department indicates that he 
may well argue or intend to argue 
that is the situation, and it may 
have been the impression gamed 
from the evidence as it has been 
developed up to this point. 

Now 1 simply propose to mtroctuce 
this type of evidence to show the 
field of actiVIty which actually de­
volves upon the Treasurer, WhlCrl 
has engaged his time since ne has 
been Treasurer and which pOSSIbly 
many of those who are Sitting m 
Judgment on him might like to 
know. It 15 not for the purpose ot 
excusing the collection of back 
taxes, which 1 agree is not in Itselt 
an issue, nor is it any attempt to 
excuse the performance of any oth­
er duties. It IS just m taIrness, to 
show the activities and scope of 
what the Treasurer was domg, whlcl1 
1 think m fairness he IS entitled to 
have go m, in view ot the intima­
tions and the interences to be 
drawn from tne exammation of the 
subordinates by my Brother. 

Mr. BROWN: Mr. Speaker, I do 
not want to be unfair here. I can­
not see how the disclosure that mu­
nicipal taxes have not been collected 
can support Mr. Gillin's position. 
However, I want to be fair about 
this, and, if it really is of conse­
quence, I will withdraw my objec­
tion. 

The CHAIRMAN: The Chair 
would prefer to allow counsel con­
siderable leeway in the evidence to 
be drawn frorr. the Treasurer, but 
will ask counsel to keep the evi­
dence as much as possible to the 
charges in question. 

Q. (By Mr. Gillin) And whether 
or not it has been the policy which 
you have adopted over these years 
in the cases of towns which got in 
these acute situations of deferring 
the prompt collection of these taxes 
ir order that the towns may keep 
their schools open and meet their 
immediate current local needs? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And has that involved a lot 

of time and a lot of contacts with 
the governing officials of a lot of 
towns? 

A. There have been more or less 
contacts; there has been quite a 
good deal of correspondence. I 
wouldn't state just how many con­
tacts there have been or how much 
it has taken, but I regarded it as a 
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detail pertaining to the duties of 
the State Treasurer. 

Q. And with respect to that de­
tail, could you state at this time 
how much back interest the Treas­
ury Department has collected on 
taxes which have been assessed and 
deferred, for the period of your ad­
ministration, approximately, if you 
haven't the exact figure? 

A. Rising $70,000. 
Q. Now with respect to the 

State's system of banking its funds, 
i' I may be permitted to be quite 
leading, but I hope fair, is this 
briefly the situation: That because 
of the wide spread over the State of 
collecting departments and agencies 
such as institutions, liquor stores, 
the Secretary of State's main and 
branch offices, you have adopted the 
policy of permitting those depart­
ments to deposit the daily funds in 
banks in the localities of the agen­
cies? 

A. I have. 
Q. Whether or not you receive 

information of those deposits after 
they are made? 

A. We do. 
Q. SO that at no time, even 

right now, is it possible for you to 
know the amount of money in those 
banks? 

A. It is not. 
Q. For instance, money might 

have been deposited yesterday aft­
ernoon or today, greatly increasing 
the deposit in one or more of those 
banks and you now wouldn't know 
it? 

A. That is right. 
Q. And might not know it for 

some brief interval? 
A. Two or three days. 
Q. And is it a fact that because 

of that volume of money going into 
the depositories in that way, that 
frequently some of these banks have 
on hand more than 25 per cent of 
their capital and surplus? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And can you state off-hand 

approximately how many banks that 
are designated to these outlying de­
partments as depOSitories, approxi­
mately? 

A. You mean depositories from 
where? 

Q. Around the State. 
A. Or our regular depositories. It 

would be a matter of guess. I 
should say right around forty, forty 
to fifty. 

Q. And is it a fact that this con­
dition where money runs over at 
times, the 25 per cent of capital and 
surplus, is it a fact that different 

banks might be in that situation on 
different days? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And in the Ernst & Ernst re­

port were recorded as of a given 
date a group of banks which on that 
date were in that condition? 

A. Correct. 
Q. And on some other date it 

might be some other group of 
banks? 

A. Right. 
Q. Now whether or not that sit­

uation was discussed by you in con­
ference with the Bank Commission­
er and the Attorney-General? 

A. You mean in regard to what? 
Q. In regard to the fact that 

these current funds at times might 
run over the 25 per cent of capital 
and surplus in your outlying banks 
as the outlying agencies put money 
in them without your knowledge? 

A. It was. 
Q. And what was your impres­

sion-
Mr. BROWN: Pardon me. Be­

fore you go into this, I would like to 
establish when this conference was 
had, whether recently or how far 
back. 

Q. (By Mr. Gillin) And when 
was this particular conference you 
are speaking of now? When did 
tha t take place? 

A. I would say it was in early 
J939. 

Q. And what was the impression 
that you took away from that con­
ference as to the consent or ap­
proval of the Bank Commissioner 
and the Attorney-General? 

A. Subject to the warrants, the 
quarterly warrants of the Governor 
and Council. 

Q. That is roughly speaking that 
statute which provides that funds 
of the State shall not be deposited 
in banks to exceed 25 per cent of 
their capital and surplus, has a pro­
viso in it that that restriction shall 
not apply to banks where money is 
deposited to pay bonds or bond in­
terest or for the purpose of meet­
ing warrants of the Governor and 
Council? 

Mr. BROWN: Just a minute. I 
think the law speaks for itself here. 

Mr. GILLIN: I will read it. 
Mr. BROWN: Will you include in 

that "if he knows"? 
Q. (By Mr. Gillin) That was 

your understanding of the law? 
Mr. BROWN: Just a minute. If 

he knows that is the law, I have 
no objection to his testifying to it, 
if it is within his knowledge. 



282 LEGISLATIVE RECORD-HOUSE, JUNE 6, 1940 

Mr. GILLIN: If he is familIar 
with this particular statute. 

Mr. BROWN: That proviso is at­
tached. As I understand your ques­
tion, you are asking nim if a pro­
viso of a particular nature is at­
tached to a particular statute. Now 
I just request that you include in 
that question "if he knows that pro­
viso is attached." 

Mr. GILLIN: I will withdraw the 
question. 

Q. (By Mr Gillin) Do you know, 
and have vou known that that stat­
L.te which restricts generally the de­
posit of State funds in excess of 
twenty-five pel cent of a bank's 
capital ann surplus, contains a pro­
viso which makes that statute inap­
plkable to funds deposited in banks 
to meet bond principal or interest, 
or to be expended on warrants by 
the Governor and Council? 

A. I don't quite understand. your 
question. 

Q. Did you know, have you 
known, and do you know that the 
statute which limits the amount 
tLat can be deposited in banks con­
tains a provi.so or provision that 
that does not apply to deposits to 
meet bond interest and principal or 
to be used to pay expenditures un­
der warrants of the Governor and 
Council? 

A. I knew that. 
Q. And was that a matter which 

came up for discussion and consid­
eration in view of the depositing 
system in these outlying banks 
which permitted some of the banks 
to overrun the twenty-five per cent 
restriction without your knowledge? 

A. It was. 
Q. Whether or not at that con­

ference because these were current 
funds to be used to pay the warrant 
of the Governor and Council. 
whether or not it was considered 
and you came away with the im­
pression that it was decided that the 
law did not apply because that 
money was to be usee.. for the pay­
ment of warrants? 

A. I thought it was simply 
temporary d'2pDsits tD be drawn any 
time to go into my regular deposi­
tory. 

Q. And was it a fact that you 
continually reduced those balances 
to accommodate the paying out of 
money from Augusta? 

A. Correct. 
Q. SO that the money which 

went into these banks in that man­
ner was deposited for the purpose 

of, and eventually used, to pay the 
warrants of the Governor and 
Council? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And as a matter of fact 

would there be times when you 
would exhaust all of the money in 
all of the banks of the State? 

A. Practically all. 
Q. Well, would you give us an in­

stance of how far down this fluctu­
ating balance was drawn at one 
time? 

A. I have had instances where I 
have had to hold checks or have 
held checks becaus·c we didn't have 
money on deposit to take care of 
them. I have had times when I 
have drawn every bank in Maine 
practically to a thousand or two 
thousand dollars. I have had times 
when the Portland banks wouldn·t 
have an excess of $25,000 to $30,000 
combined. Other banks similarly. 

Q. And in connection with your 
arrangements at the Depositors 
Trust Company in Augusta, which 
I understand at present is the bank 
on which you draw your checks, how 
frequent contact do you have with 
that bank and its officials with re­
spect to the condition of that de­
posit? 

A. Quite frequently. 
Q. And whether or not these 

banks that were used as deposi­
tories and your main bank at one 
time considered attempting to 
charge you service charges? 

A. It was discussed. 
Q. But they never have? 
A. Not yet. 
Q. That is, it was proposed, 

wasn't it? 
A. It was suggested. 
Q. Can you give us a fair ap­

proximation of the annual revenue 
that is taken in from all the scat­
tered liquor stores and the main 
store here at Augusta? 

Mr. BROWN: Just a minute. I 
would like to have that question 
prefaced with the question as to 
whether this particular witness has 
made a study of the report made by 
the Liquor Commission or whoever 
sends in these deposits and if as a 
result of that study he is able to 
give evidence. Then I will not ob­
ject. 

Mr. GILLIN: I would object, of 
course, to prefacing my question by 
that becaus·e he would not be con­
fined to that one source for infor­
mation. He might, as a matter of 
fact. know from his own books or 
the books of the Liquor Commission. 



LEGISLATIVE RECORD-HOUSE, JUNE 6, 1940 283 

I am asking him if he knows and 
you may cross-examine him. 

Mr. BROWN: I want it to appear 
that he has had access to accurate 
records of some kind on which his 
judgment is based. I don't object to 
putting it in but I want some foun­
dation for it shown. 

Q. Can you approximate from the 
books of the Treasury Department 
or from information received from 
officials or records of the Liquor De­
partment, can you approximate the 
amount of annual revenue that the 
State is receiving from the sale of 
liq uor at the main and branch 
stores? 

A. Approximately. 
Q. How much? 
A. The total would be five mil­

lion-
Q. Annually? 
A. More than that. Five million, 

seven hundred thousand. 
Q. That would approximate the 

annual figure of receipts? 
A. Right. That is all deposited. 

with the exception of the Augusta 
warehouse which has about four 
hundr·ed and fifty thousand, that is 
deposited here in our local bank. 
The rest of it is deposited around 
the different banks of Maine. 

Q. And there is no way of ap­
proximating from day to day or 
week to we·ek what the volume of 
those outside deposits are? 

A. It would depend slightly on 
the amount of liquor drank. 

Q. Now, was there ever anything 
occurred in the Treasur·er's office 
which made you suspicious of, or in­
dicated any irregularities or de­
parture from the established system 
of work, of Mr. Winship or any of 
his subordinates up until the time 
of his resignation? 

A. There was not. 
Q. And to what extent did you 

have confidence in Mr. Winship's 
capacity and integrity? 

A. Perfect. 
Q. And to what extent, up until 

the time of the recent disclosures. 
did you have confid·ence in the ca­
pacity and integrity and authority 
of Mr. Runnells? 

A. No suspicion of Mr. Runnells. 
Q. Well. you had confidence in 

his integrity? Is that right? 
A. Yes. 
Q. When did you first know that 

Mr. Winship had cashed any checks 
or any of the checks that are in evi­
dence here or any other checks for 

Mr. Runnells from cash from the 
Treasury Department? 

A. I can't tell you the date. 
Q. Approximately? 
A. No. 
Q. Well, at the time that it now 

develops that checks wer·e cashed 
did you have any knowledge that 
they were being so cashed? 

A. I did not. 
Q. Well, might I refresh your 

recollection by this: Was your 
knowl·edge obtained somewhere about 
the time that the recent disclosures 
were made? 

A. I think it was previous to 
that. I was called up to the Gov­
ernor's office. Mr. Wilkinson I 
think and Mr. Noon and the Gov­
ernor and Mr. Winship and maybe 
the Attorney General were present. 
I have forgotten but I think it was 
Mr. Wilkinson who produced two 
checks which had evidently been 
cashed and asked me if I knew 
about them and I said I didn't know, 
that I had Hever seen them. And 
then from Mr. Winship they got the 
information. 

Q. SO it was after Ernst & Ernst 
were obtained to make this audit 
that you learned that those checks 
were cashed by Mr. Winship? 

A. Right. 
Q. Now, did you know anything 

about this. whether or not the 
Treasury Department was receiving 
the full cash which the Highway 
Garage was taking in over at the 
Garag·e? 

A. I did not. 
Q. And when did you first learn 

that the Treasury Department was 
not? 

A. Somewhere the first days of 
April; maybe after the eighth or 
tenth. 

Q. And was that after the audi­
tors had been retained? 

A. Right 
Q. SO that, as I understand you, 

you had no knowledge of anv ir­
regularities in your department, as 
it later transpired there were ir­
regularities on the part of Mr. Win­
ship, until after Ernst & Ernst had 
been retained to make the audit? 

A. I did not. 
Q. Now, with respect to pur­

chasing securities for the various 
funds of the State, trust funds per­
manent or otherwise, have you 
sought adVice on that problem? 

A. Many times. 
Q. And when did you first seek 

such advice? 
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A. When I first became State 
Treasurer. 

Q. And have you continued to do 
that? 

A. I have. 
Q. And from whom did you first 

seek such advice? 
A. 1 had rather an advisory 

board. 1 had Mr. Cassidy, President 
of the Eastern Trust Company. I 
had Charles Hichborn ot the Granite 
National, and I had Nelson McDou­
gal of the Bank of Commerce in 
Portland. 

Q. And whether or not up untIl 
the time of Mr. CasEidy's death It 
was ll;pon their advice largely that 
you did handle the purchase of se­
curities and in general the port­
folios of the various trust tunds'? 

A. 1 didn't make one investment 
without consulting Mr. Cassidy or 
Mr. Hichborn or both. 

Q. Now, since you have open 
Treasurer you have had occasion, 
have you, to reinvest the proceeds 
of securities which have been ma­
tured or called? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And whether or not you were 

advised or understood it to be your 
duty to sell out of these porttolios, 
any of them, any securities that 
there were when you came in? 

A. I did not. 
Q. And have you done so? 
A. I have not. 
Q. SO that the security portfolios 

except for investment of possibly 
new funds or the investment of 
funds .acquired from the matunng 
or callmg or payment of securities, 
the portfolios in the main are as 
they were when you became Treas­
urer? 

A. There are no new funds. It is 
all maturities. 

Q. That you have reinvested'? 
A. Right. 
Q. Now, in connection with the 

reinvestment of funds, what has 
been the type of such reinvest­
ment? 

A. Well, 1 have had three sources. 
I have invested in municipal of the 
New England states, New York and 
Pennsylvania. I have placed them 
~n time. deposits. I have placed them 
m sa vmgs banks. Those three 
sources. 

Q. And to the extent that you 
h.ave reinvested funds have you 
given considerable attention to ob­
taining securities within those 
classes to produce the best yield? 

A. My object has been wholly to 

have them left a hundred cents .on 
the dollar. 

Q. And in reinvesting the funds 
that came into your hands did you 
give some attention to the yield of 
that investment? 

A. Naturally, to a great extent. 
Q. What was your first consid­

eration? 
A. The first consideration was 

the safety of the investment by con­
sulting. 

Q. Now, with respect to the d1-
rection of your department as 
Treasurer since 1937 have you ever 
had your attention called to any­
thmg by the State Auditor which 
he did not approve of? 

A. Never have. 
Q. Did you ever have your atten­

tion called b~ the Governor or any 
member of hiS Council-

A. In the way of investment? 
Q. No, wait a minute. Did you 

ever have your attention called by 
the Governor or any member of his 
Council to anything or any manner 
of handling in your department 
smce you became Treasurer. 

A. Yes, I did. 
Q. And what was that? 
A. One was the amount of cash 

that we had on hand and another 
was the way that the money for de­
posit was taken down to the De­
pO!,itor.s Trust Company by Mr. 
Wmshlp. 

Q. What was the critiCism ot 
the Council about that? 

A. The same as mine. 
Q. What was that? 
A. I didn't quite approve of the 

method. 
Q. What did you do about it? 
A. I had a carrier insurance-by 

consultation of the Governor, I had 
a carrier insurance, burglary insur­
ance and more burglary insurance 
put on the funds in the state 
Treasury office. 

Q. When was that? 
A. I would say in the winter of 

'37 or '38. 
Q. Prior to that time Mr. Win­

ship had just taken it down in a 
bag? 

A. Right. 
Q. That is no reflection on Mr. 

Winship? 
A. It is not. 
Q. It was a desire on the part of 

the Governor and yourself that 
these funds should be carried down 
with safety? 

A. That is right. 
Q. SO that the old manner of 
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taking the funds down to the bank 
was changed by you? 

A. By way of insurance, yes. 
Q. Whether or not it has been 

your custom since becommg Treas­
urer to spend all the time in Au­
gusta while the sessions of the 
Legislature were m session? 

A. I always have. 
Q. Now for the remaining time, 

over the years, what is your fair 
estimate of the actual time that you 
spent in the State House and the 
Treasurer's office in connection with 
your Treasureship, measured in 
terms per week, days per week? 

A. At least two or three days per 
week. 

Q. And were you permitted in 
those two or three days per week to 
attend to what you had to do as 
Treasurer in Augusta? 

A. I was. May I enlarge on that? 
Q. Yes. 
A. Also frequently when I have 

been in Augusta for two or three 
days a week, I have had to take 
trips from Augusta on what I con­
sidered important business pertain­
ing to the Treasury Department. 

Q. Where did you go, for in­
stance? 

A. Boston; also some of the 
towns around to the different banks 
of Maine. 

Q. Did this banking situation 
where deposits were piling up in 
banks around the State, and the 
fact you were routing your checks 
out of the Augusta Trust Company, 
and some of the other banks would 
get overloaded, did that require your 
attention? 

A. I didn't get the question. 
. Q. In order to keep your Depos­
Itors Trust account filled up to draw 
on and to keep the money flowing 
out of the various banks as balances 
d.eveloped in them, did that situa­
tIOn, th~t banking situation, take 
up conSIderable of your time and 
attention? 

A. I WOUldn't say a lot of time. 
Every time I was here I found out 
~hat the amount was in the Depos­
Itors Trust Company, and if it was 
gettmg low in the Depositors Trust 
Company I would draw from the 
(lther depusitories. In addition to 
that we had anticipated warrants of 
what might come in the next week. 

Q. I don't know whether I asked 
you this or not. Did you personally 
atte!ld to the purchasing or rein­
vestmg of all trust funds? 

A. I did. . 
Q. Were you also on the Board 

which purchased securities for the 
Teachers Retirement Fund? 

A. 1 was on the Board. 
Q. Whether or not those securi­

ties were purchased by you? 
A. Not purchased by me. They 

were in consultation with Dr. Pack­
ard. Chairman of the Board, and 
US1laUy if Dr Packard called my at­
tention to anything and if I at that 
moment did not have time, I would 
return to the Bank Commissioner 
who is on the Board. The other 
members of the Board are the At­
tornev General, the Commissioner 
of Insurance and two members from 
the Maine Teachers Association. 

On motion by Mr. Spear of Cum­
berland, 

Recessed until 1: 15 P. M., Eastern 
Standard Time. 

Thereupon, the Senate retired to 
its Chamber, amid the applause of 
the House, the members rising. 

In the House 
Called ~o order by the Speaker. 
.on motIOn by Mr. Varney of Ber­

WICk, 
Recessed until 1:14 P. M., Eastern 

Standard Time. 
In the House 

After Recess-l:14 P. M. 
The House was called to order by 

the Speaker. 

The SPEAKER: The matter 
pending before the House when the 
Joint Convention assembled this 
morning was the request of the gen­
tl'cman from Limestone, Mr. Burgess, 
for unammous consent to introduce 
a Bill. The Clerk will read the title 
of the BIll. 

An Act relating to Automobile 
Travel by Agricultural Inspectors. 
. The S~EAKER: This Bill, for its 
mtroductIOn, despite the joint clos­
mg order, requires unanimous con­
sent. Is there any objection? The 
Chair hears objection. 

Paper from the Senate, out of or­
der and under suspension of the 
rules: 

From the Senate: 
Report of the Committee on Mili­

tary Affairs. rep,orting "Ought to 
pass" on BIll 'An Act permitting 
State to Accept Federal Funds for 
Promotion of Aviation." (S. P. 714) 
(L. D. 1220) 

Comes from the senate, report 
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read and accepted and the Bill 
passed to be engrossed. 

In the House, report read and ac­
cepted and the Bill was given its 
two several readings. Under suspen­
sion of the rules the Bill had its 
third reading and was passed to 
be engrossed in concurrence. 

At this point the Senate entered 
the hall, amid the applause of the 
House, the members rising, and a 
Joint Convention was formed. 

In Joint Convention 
(The President 01 the Senate in 

the Chair.) 
The Convention was called to or­

der by the President. 
The Secretary called the roll. 
Present: Senators Beckett, Booth­

by, Boucher, Burns, Chamberlain, 
Chase of Piscataquis, Chase of 
Washington, Cony, Dorr, Dow, Elliot, 
Findlen, Friend, Graves, Harkins, 
Hill, Kennedy, Laughlin, Lewis, 
Littlefield, Marden, Morse, Owen, 
Sanborn, Sewall, Spear, Thatcher, 
Tompkins, Worthen. 

Representatives: Arzonico, Ay-
otte, Bacon, Batchelder, Bates, Be­
langer, Bird, Bolduc, Bragdon, 
Brown of Caribou, Brown of Cor­
inna, Brown of Eagle Lak·e, Bur­
bank, Burges. of Limestone, Butler, 
Buzzell, Chandler, C h u r chi 11 , 
Cleaves, Clough, Cook of Lewiston, 
Cowan, Crockett, Cushing, Davis, 
Dean, DeBeck, Donahue, Dorsey, 
Douglass, Dow of Norway, Downs, 
Dwinal, Eddy, Ellis, Emery, Erswell, 
Farwell, Fernald, Fowles, Good, 
Goss, Grua, Hall, Hanold, Haskell, 
Hawes, Hildreth, Hinckley, Hinman, 
Hodgkins, Holden, Holman, Howes, 
Hussey, Jewett, Jordan, Keene, 
Labbee, LaFleur, Lambert, Larra­
bee, Latno, Luro, MacNichol, Ma­
hon, Marshall, Maxim, McGilli­
cuddy, McGlauflin, McNamara, Mel­
anson, Mercier, Merrifield, Meserve, 
Miller, Mills, Murchie, Norwood, 
Noyes, Paul, Payson, Peakes, Pelle­
tier, PhHbrick, Plummer, Poulin of 
Waterville, Pratt, Preble, Race, 
Richardson, Robbins, Robie, Robin­
son of Bingham, Robinson of Peru, 
Robinson of So. Portland, Shesong, 
Sleeper, Slosberg, Smith of Thomas­
ton, Smith of Westbrook, Snow of 
Dover-Foxcroft, Snow of Hermon, 
Stacy, Starrett, Stevens, Stilphen, 
Sylvia, Tardif, Townsend, Varney, 
Violette, Walker, Wallace, Weed, 
Weatherbee, Welch, Whitney, Wil­
liams, Winter, Worth, Young of 
Acton. 

Absent: Senators Cook and Went­
worth. 

Representatives: Babin, Barter, 
Bubar, Dennison, Dorrance, Dow of 
Eliot, Dow of Kennebunkport, 
Everett, Fogg, Ford, Leveque, Lord, 
otto, Palmeter, Pike of Lubec, 
Porell, Poulin of Rumford, Rams­
dell, Thompson, Winslow. 

(At this point, at the request of 
the President of the Senate, the 
Speaker of the House assumed the 
Chair as Chairman of the Conven­
tion) 
Direct Examination of Mr. Smith 

(Resumed) 
(By Mr. Gillin) 

Q. I do not think I asked you 
this question this morning, Mr. 
Smith,-what has been the extent 
in terms of dollars and cents that 
you have invested or re-invested 
since you have been Treasurer, in 
the trust portfOliOS? 

A. Between three hundred and 
three hundred fifty thousand dol­
lars. 

Cross Examination 
(By Mr. Brown) 

Q. Mr. Smith, I understood you 
to state, on direct examination, 
that you had arranged for the bond 
issue of the State, is that correct? 

A. I said that I was at the head 
of it. I will go farther and say I 
a.rranged it by vote of the Gover­
nor and Council. 

Q. Said bond issues were taken 
care of under your supervision? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And do I understand that 

you take the position that because 
of the manner in which you 
handled these bond issues they 
were disposed of at a premium? 

A. I take a position on account 
of some bank connections there was 
a substantial premium. 

Q. As I understand it, the 
Merrill Trust Company underwrote 
the bond issue of the State? 

A. In connection with one other 
house. 

Q. What was the amount of the 
premium at which the bonds were 
disposed? 

A. If my memory is right they 
were-you mean what premium? 

Q. The premium on each bond? 
We will take, for instance, an in­
dividual bond, 100 par-what would 
be the premium? 

A. If my memory is right it was 
105.32. 

Q. So that there was a premium 
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on each bond of approximately two, 
three or five dollars? 

A. There was a premium on a 
million of $53,200. 

Q. As I understand it there was 
a premium on 100 of from two, 
three or five dollars? 

A. It was more than that. It 
would be $5.32. 

Q. Now it is a fact, is it not, 
that the premium on these bonds 
was largely determined by the in­
terest rate of those bonds? 

A. They were two per cent 
bonds. 

(Question read) 
A. It is always determined that 

way. 
Q. SO it would be a fact, would 

it not, that if these bonds which 
were floated had run at an inter­
est rate of 1';;" per cent, the prem­
ium would have been less? 

A. That is right. 
Q. And if they had been floated 

at an interest rate of three or four 
per cent, the premium would have 
been more? 

A. That is right. 
Q. What were the maturity 

dates of these bonds? 
A. Ten years, $100,000 a year 

beginning with 1941, I think-1940. 
Q. So it is a fact, is it not, that 

for the privilege of obtaining a 
premium as to the amount which 
you state on these bonds, the citi­
zens of Maine acquired the priv­
ilege of paying two per cent in­
terest over a period of ten years? 

A. That is right. 
Q. Now in your opinion when 

these bonds mature, is it not a fact 
that the amount of interest paid 
would vastly exceed the amount of 
the premium obtained? 

A. I don't understand the ques­
tion. 

Q. Is it not a fact that when 
these bonds mature the amount of 
interest paid would greatly exceed 
the amount of premium received at 
the time of sale? 

A. Greatly exceed what? 
Q. Would greatly exceed the 

amount of premium received at 
the time of sale? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And do you claim that is 

through your efforts? 
A. No. 
Q. Now are you taking the posi­

tion that you disclaim any respon­
sibility for these bond issues? 

A. I am not. 
Q. Now I understood you to 

state on direct examination that 
your salary is $3000? 

A. It is. 
Q. And that the salary of Mr. 

Winship is $3900? 
A. That is right. 
Q. Do you offer that evidence to 

prove any particular point? 
A. What do you mean by that? 
Q. Well, do you mean to inti­

mate by that that Mr. Winship is 
your superior? 

A. I do not. 
Q. You do not mean to convey 

co this Convention that the duties 
of the Treasurer's office were really 
on the shoulders of Mr. Winship? 

A. I do not. 
Q. Well, do you know the pur­

pose for which your attorney put 
that evidence into this record? 

A. I do not know the purpose. 
Q. How often would you say, Mr. 

Smith, that you were in the 
Treasurer's office a week? 

A. Well, as I testified this 
morning, two, three days, some­
times longer, sometimes I took trips 
from Augusta. The work connected 
with the Treasury Department, I 
should say it would average three to 
four days a week outside of the two 
sessions of the Legislature, when I 
was here all the time during the 
Legislature. 

Q. Would you state the particu­
lar days of the week which you 
would be usually here? 

A. Usually the first of the week, 
Monday, usually, and then stay un­
tIl I got through or went some­
where else on business or went 
home. 

Q. Were you usually here Tues­
day and Wednesday of each week? 

A. Almost invariably. 
Q. If you will take this calendar 

to refresh your recollection on the 
questions which I am about to ask 
you. Mr. Smith. 

There was introduced here yes­
terday the dates on which you at­
tended meetings of the Maine Mu­
nicipal Emergency Finance Board 
-I don't know whether that is an 
exact deSignation, but the Board 
which handles defunct towns-and 
it appeared from the testimony 
yesterday that on August 11, 1937-
I will inquire as to the year 1939, 
since that is the type of calendar 
which you have. It went into the 
record yesterday that on January 
3rd, 1939, you attended a meeting 
of this particular Board. Will you 
state the day on which January 
3rd appears? On what day does 
January 3rd come in 1939? 
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A. Came on Tuesday. 
Q. It went into the record that 

on January 17, 1939 you attended 
one of these meetings. What day 
does that cover? 

A. Tuesday. 
Q. It appears that on February 

7, 1939, that you attended one of 
these meetings. What day does 
that cover? 

A. Tuesday. 
Q. It appears on February 8, 

1939 you attended one of these 
meetings. What day does that 
cover? 

A. Wednesday. 
Q. It appears that on May 3rd, 

1939, you attended one of these 
meetings. What day is that? 

A. Wednesday. 
Q. It appears that on May 23. 

1939, you attended one of these 
meetings. What day is that? 

A. Tuesday. 
Q. It appears that on January 

14, 1939, you attended one of these 
meetings. What day is that? 

A. Wednesday. 
Q. And on August 1st. What 

day is August 1st? 
A. Tuesday. 
Q. It appears that on August 9. 

1939 there was a similar meeting. 
What day is that? 

A. Wednesday. 
Q. It appears that on September 

12th, there was a similar meeting. 
What day is that? 

A. Tuesday. 
Q. It appears that on October 2 

there was a similar meeting. What 
day is that? 

A. Tuesday. 
Q. Now it is a fact, Mr. Smith. 

is it not. that all of the time which 
you devoted to the attendance of 
meetings, or practically all the time 
that you devoted to the attendance 
of meetings of these Boards was on 
the particular days which you were 
over here attending supposedly to 
your Treasurer's duties? Is that 
not correct? 

A. I will have to have that re­
peated, please. 

Q. It is a fact, is it not, that you 
devoted to the Treasurer's office 
two or three days a week in which 
you were here? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And those days were usually 

Tuesday and Wednesday. or Mon­
day, Tuesday and Wednesday? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And is it not a fact that 

practically all of the time which 
you devoted to the Maine Municipal 
Finance Board, or the Board which 

we are referring to, was devoted on 
those particular days? 

A. All the time I devoted to 
them? 

Q. I say practically all the time 
that you devoted to this Board was 
devoted on those first days of the 
week when you were here to at­
tend to your Treasurer's duties? 

A. There might have been other 
conferences we had other days. 

Q. They would be rare occur­
rences. would they not? 

A. About every time I was here 
I was in Mr. Holley's office, I was 
in the Auditor's office, the Bank 
Commissioner's office, I was in 
other offices over the State House. 

Q. But that was on the particu­
lar two days of the week you say 
you were here to devote your time 
to the Treasurer's duties. 

A. That was a part of the Treas­
urer's duties. 

Q. Maybe you and I do not 
understand each other, Mr. Smith. 

A. We don't. 
Q. Is it not a fact that practic­

ally all of the time you devoted to 
this particular board was devoted 
Monday, Tuesday or Wednesday of 
each week? 

A. I wouldn't say so. You mean 
to the board, or in conference with 
Mr. Holley? 

Q. I mean your efforts devoted 
to matters which arose in connec­
tion with this Board which you are 
associated with. 

A. Mr. Holley and I were in 
other places pertaining to that par­
ticular Board. 

Q. When did you first state this 
morning that you were first aware 
of the improper disbursements of 
funds which had been made 
through your office? 

A. I didn't give a date. 
Q. Well, approximately, your 

best judgment? 
A. It was after Ernst & Ernst, 

of course. 
Q. Some time in the spring of 

1940? 
A. It must have been some time 

in March. 
Q. And although this cashing of 

checks by Mr. Runnells, that is, of 
checks payable to you, had been 
gOing on in your office ever since 
you assumed that office, you had 
no knowledge of it until last 
March? 

A. I did not. 
Q. Have you ever read the Code? 
A. Recently. 
Q. You testified, I believe, Mr. 

Smith, that you were familiar with 
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the law relative to excessive bank 
deposits? 

A. I am. 
Q. Are you familiar with the 

provision of the Code relative to 
the duties of your office? 

A. I couldn't give it in detail. 
Q. Could you give the sum and 

substance of it? 
A. No, not here. 
Q. Are you aware of the legal 

provisions which state what course 
of procedure shall be followed in 
regard to protested checks which 
come into your office? 

A. Not until I discovered the pro­
tested checks. 

Q. You never made any attempt 
to find out what the duties of your 
office were with regard to that be­
fore this situation arose, did you? 

A. I did not. 
Q. I show the auditors' report in 

regard to trust funds and ask you if 
you will state from that which of 
those funds are permanent funds? 

A. I can't state which are per­
manent funds. 

Q. Did you ever make any at­
tempt to find out which ones were 
permanent funds? 

A. I don't know what permanent 
funds are. 

Q. You have had the entire su­
pervision of the investment of trust 
funds, have you not? 

A. I have. 
Q. Did you know there was a 

law which required you to make 
particular investments in regard to 
permanent trust funds? 

A. I had observed the law as to 
all trust funds. 

Q .. That isn't responsive to my 
questlOn. Were you aware of that 
particular law? 

A. As to permanent funds? 
Q. Have you ever known before 

this hearing started that there was 
a law in the State of Maine which 
restricted the investments which 
might be made with a permanent 
trust fund? 

A. Ever since I have been Treas­
urer I have known the law as to 
the investment of trust funds. 

Q. You knew, then, ever since 
you have been Treasurer that the 
law restricted the investment of 
permanent trust funds? 

A. I have. 
Q. And yet you state that hav­

ing supervision of all the portfolios 
of trust funds you never made any 
attempt to find out what a per­
manent trust fund was? 

A. I have not. 

Q. You don't contend here now, 
do you, Mr. Smith, that by virtue 
of your office while you were a 
member of the various Boards that 
yo).! were thereby entitled to de­
pnve the Treasury Department of 
your time so that it might be used 
in connection with affairs con­
nected with these other Boards? 

A. I regarded it as the duty of 
the Treasurer for whatever Board 
he is on to pay some attention to 
that as well as to the Treasury De­
partment. 

Q. These various Boards which 
you are on always had several mem­
bers, did they not? 

A. Right. 
Q. But you were the only Treas­

urer of State? 
A. Correct. 
Q. SO that if you were not able, 

because of the pressing duties of 
your Treasury office, to attend any 
of these particular meetings, it is 
fair to assume that the duties of 
those Boards would have been at­
tended to anyway, is it not? 

A. Probably. 
Q. Now, Mr. Smith, I believe you 

have already stated you are not fa­
miliar with the proviSion of the 
Code which sets out the duties of 
your office? Now I will say to you 
that the Code provides-and your 
attorney may check me if I am 
wrong-that checks that shall be 
issued by the Controller, signed by 
him, which when your signature is 
affixed thereto shall become a check 
entitled to be cashed by the payee, 
bearing that in mind it is also 
my understanding that a system 
was installed in Augusta whereby 
there was a check writing machine, 
and I ask you now, did you retain 
in your custody that check writing 
machine? 

A. I did not. 
Q. In whose custody was it? 
A. The Controller's. 
Q. And was that check writing 

machine so set up that there ap­
peared on the checks which went 
through, a facsimile signature of 
yours as Treasurer and of Mr. Run­
nells as Controller? 

A. As far as I know. 
Q. So it is a fact, is it not, that 

because you did not retain the con­
trol of this check writing machine 
it was thereby possible for the 
Treasurer's office to draw checks 
to anyone that it saw fit, issue 
them when it saw fit, and your 
counter signature was on there 
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whether you preferred it to be on 
there or not? 

A. Correct. 
Q. Do you here take the position 

that there was no duty upon you to 
be the distributing agent of those 
checks? Let me reframe my ques­
tion. Do you take the position here 
that there was no duty on you to 
see that your office was the last de­
partment which those checks went 
through before issuance? 

A. I did not so state. 
Q. Do you take that position? 
A. I do not. 
Q. What position do you take on 

that? 
A. That the checks all come in 

to my office as far as I know, and 
they have been distributed from our 
office. They come in on Control­
ler's warrants and have been mailed 
and distributed from the Treasurer's 
office. 

Q. Well, maybe I am wrong on 
this then. These checks were 
drawn by the Controller and he did 
not mail them out, you say? 

A. They were mailed from the 
Treasurer's office. 

Q. Well, that is my misunder­
standing. You stated that you 
never examined the signature on 
any of the checks which went 
through your office which came out 
of this machine? 

A. I said that I didn't look at 
the checks coming through my 
office. 

Q. You never did? 
A. No. 
Q. I understood you to state on 

direct examination this morning 
that you knew or were familiar with 
the law in regard to the collection 
of bank taxes? 

A. I don't know that I said that. 
Q. Well, you said, or did you 

say, that yOU were familiar with 
the tax situation which existed in 
your office in regard to uncollected 
bank taxes? 

A. I did a part of it. 
Q. Were you aware of the fact 

that there was in 1933 more than 
$70,000 of uncollected bank and 
trust taxes? 

A. I was not. 
Q. When were you first a ware 

of that situation? 
A. Maybe the first of March. 
Q. Did you ever require an in­

ventory of the Treasurer's office 
when you took it over? 

A.. I asked for it. Will you 
quallfy that? What do you mean? 

Q. Well, did you ever require an 

inventory as to what there was in 
that office in regard to assets so 
that you would know with what 
you were charged? 

A. The bank balances. 
Q. All you require from inven­

tory was the cash? 
A. Right, and securities. 
Q. Now, I believe you did state 

this morning, Mr. Smith, that you 
had occasion to talk with represen­
tatives of the Merrill Trust Com­
pany and one Mr. McDougall and 
others in regard to your investment. 
Is that correct? 

A. No, sir. 
. Q. What did you say? 
A. I said Mr. Cassidy of the 

Eastern, Mr. McDougall of the 
Bank of Commerce and Mr. Charles 
Hichborn of the Granite National. 

Q. How often did you check with 
Mr. McDougall in regard to invest­
ments? 

A. Quite a few times. 
Q. Did you have several conver­

sations in 1937 with him? 
A. I have had conversations 

since then. 
Q. Did you have a number of 

conversations every year since you 
have been in the office with Mr. 
McDougall? 

A. Will you repeat that? 
Q. Have you had several con­

versations each year since you have 
been in office with Mr. McDougall? 

A. I have. 
Q. Now, it is a fact, is it not. 

that Mr. McDougall is a director of 
the Lime Rock Railroad? 

A. I don't know. 
Q. Well, did you ever mention 

to Mr. McDougall that the Lime 
Rock Railroad owed the State some 
taxes? 

A. I did not. 
Q. And you say that you don't 

know whether Mr. McDougall was 
a member of the Lime Rock Rail­
road? 

A. I do not know. 
Q. You stated this morning that 

there were deposits in various 
banks throughout the state which 
were made by State agencies, and 
you would not know the amount of 
the deposits in those banks until 
the deposit slip came through? Is 
that correct? 

A. Right. 
Q. How long would it be after 

the deposits were made before the 
Slip came through? 

A. It might be two days. 
Q. After the deposit slips did 

come through, would you know the 
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state of the deposits in those 
banks? 

A. Yes. 
Q. Did you make an examina­

tion of the deposit slips which came 
through? 

A. The bank books. I frequent­
ly made an examination of the bank 
books, our bank books down in the 
office, of the different banks. 

Q. Did you attempt to keep a 
constant check on the amount of 
deposits in these various banks? 

A. Not constant. 
Q. SO far as you were concerned, 

you would not know whether de­
posit slips came through or not, the 
constant amount of deposits in 
those banks did you? 

A. Only by consultation with 
Mr. Winship. 

Q. How often did you consult 
with him? 

A. I cannot state. 
Q. Now if there had been more 

banks designated as depositories for 
State funds, the amount of the 
deposits in each would have been 
less? 

A. Probably. 
Q. Have you made an examina­

tion since you were aware of the 
fact that this hearing would take 
place-

A. What took place? 
Q. Since you were made aware 

of the fact that this hearing would 
take place, have you made an ex­
amination of these banks as to 
whether or not there are excessive 
deposits? 

A. I have not. 
Q. SO you are not in position to­

day to state whether or not there 
are excessive deposits in any of 
these banks? 

A. I regard them all as subject 
to the warrants of the Governor 
and Council. 

Q. Now you stated this morning 
that you have made investments of 
trust funds since you have been in 
office? 

A. I did not understand. 
Q. You stated this morning that 

you have made investments of 
trust funds since you have been in 
office? 

A. I have. 
Q. And you also stated that 

your primary consideration in mak­
ing those investments was the 
legality of those investments? 

A. I don't think I said that. It 
was the safety of the investments. 

Q. Did you not state this morn­
ing that your main idea when you 

made an investment was to see 
that it was a legal investment? 

A. I did not. I said the safety. 
I made legal investments. 

Q. When you made an invest­
ment then, were you primarily con­
cerned to see that it was a safe in­
vestment? Is that correct? 

A. No, it would not, no. It 
would be safe and legal. I did not 
make an investment unless it was 
legal. 

Q. Before you made an invest­
ment you then inquired as to 
whether it would be a legal in­
vestment? 

A. I did know. 
Q. You did know? 
A. Absolutely. 
Q. You would also know, would 

you not, as to whether any of the 
securities in the portfolio which you 
had inherited from your predecessor 
were legal? 

A. I would know whether they 
were. 

Q. Those which were not legal, 
did you make any attempt to dis­
pose of them and procure invest­
ments which were legal? 

A. I did not. 
Q. Did you testify this morning, 

Mr. Smith, that you had purchased 
in your capacity as State Treas­
urer approximately $350,000 worth 
of securities for trust funds? 

A. This afternoon I testified be­
tween three hundred and three 
hundred fifty thousand dollars in 
the trust investment; not securities; 
not all securities. I invested be­
tween three hundred and three 
hundred fifty thousand dollars. 

Q. Those investments would in­
clude funds other than trust funds? 

A. They would. 
Q. What would the nature of 

those be? 
A. Time deposits and there 

would be savings banks. 
Q. It is a fact, is it not, that 

you have invested since you took 
office, since January 4, 1937, ap­
proXimately $110,000 in trust secur­
ities? 

A. That is right. 
Redirect examination 

(By Mr. Gillin) 
Q. With respect to the premium 

on that Merrill Trust Company 
bond issue, what was the rate on 
that? 

A. 2%. 
Q. Whether or not that premium 

price if you know was an excep­
tionally good one on the market at 
that time? 
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A. In my opinion it was the 
biggest premium, largest premium 
rather, that Maine ever received. 

Q. With the ratio between prem­
ium and interest·? 

A. Correct. 
Q. Now with respect to this 

money you have invested or rein­
vested, since becoming State Treas­
urer in securities what type of se­
curities did you buy? 

A. All legal. 
Q. What type? 
A. Municipals. I think they are 

all municipals of the New England 
States. I think I bought five thou­
sand· of New York. I think so. I 
would have to refresh my memory 
on that. 

Q. You were interrogated as to 
my position in asking you why Mr. 
Winship wa.s paid more than you 
were. That we had not discussed 
at all? 

A. Not at all. 
Q. Is it a fact that Mr. Win­

ship's position is a full time job? 
A. It is supposed to be. 
Q. He is obliged with his crew 

10 keep working all week? 
A. He is. 
Q. Yours is not a full time job? 
A. No. 
Q. And was this check-writing 

1 ystem one which had been installed 
by the Bureau of Accounts and Con­
trol under the Finance Department 
before you came into office? 

A. It was. 
Q. Did you consider that YOU 

had any right to change that sys­
tem, it having been established by 
the Bureau of Accounts and Con­
trol and the Finance Dep'lrtment? 

A. I did not. 
Q. Now with respect to the at­

tention which you gave to thesp 
fluctuating bank balances, in your 
office whose duty was it to take the 
information as it came in from 
around the State as funds were de­
posited from time to time and enter 
and post it? 

A. Mrs. Bagley, I think. 
Q. And on such occasions as you 

required the exact balances in 
these banks, you got it from her? 

A. Or Mr. Winship. 
Recross examination 

(By Mr. Brown) 
Q. You stated Mr. Smith­
A. I can't hear. 
Q. You stated. Mr. Smith. that 

you do not consider your .iob a full 
time job? 

A. I think it has never been 
considered so. I haven't been 

there six days a week since I have 
been Treasurer. 

Q. I am asking you. do you con­
sider your job a full time .iob? 

A. I don't think I could answer 
tha t in telligen tly. 

Q. Do you have an opinion as 
to whether it is a full time job or 
not? 

A. I think the Treasurer of 
State has the responsibility of the 
iob whether he is here or whether 
he is outside. I do not believe he 
has to be in the office six days a 
week perhaps as State Treasurer. 

Q. You do consider then that 
the State Treasurer is responsible 
for the acts of the employees of his 
office? 

A. As far as he knows. 
Q. And if he knew nothing 

about the acts of his employees, he 
would not be responsible--is that 
correct? 

A. That is correct. 
Q. You take this position, Mr. 

Smith, that you were not required 
to know what is gOing on in your 
office? 

A. I had no way of knowing. I 
had perfect confidence in my office 
help. I did of my deputy and out­
side of when Mr. Winship got S9 
badly fooled by Mr. Runnells, I still 
do. 

Q. You say, therefore, that no 
supervision is required of you? 

A. I do not say that. 
(Defense rests) 
(Defendant's Exhibits No. 1 and 

No.2. admitted without objection). 
The CHAIRMAN: Are you ready 

to proceed, Mr. Brown? 
Mr. BROWN: Yes, Mr. Chair­

man. 
Mr. Speaker and Mr. President, 

and members of this Convention' 
The time has now arrived when. as 
in accordance with the procedure 
established in democratic nations. 
an opportunity is accorded counsel 
of both parties to review the evi­
dence which has been submitted. 

Now I will try not to prolong you 
unduly. because I know that vou 
are tired and I know that I am 
tired and I know that Mr. Gillin 
is tired, and I will try to prolong 
you no more than is necessary con­
sidering the duty which I feel is 
upon me to adequately review the 
facts in this investigation. 

I wish to repeat at this time a 
statement which I made in my 
opening, that this is a very solemn 
occasion, that we are here to con­
sider a very serious matter, a mat­
ter which is of the utmost serious-



LEGISLATIVE RECORD-HOUSE, JUNE 6, 1940 293 

ness to the citizens of this State 
and to the Treasurer cf this state. 
It may not be necessary for me to 
say to you that in cansidering the 
evidence in this case you should not 
be affected by any bias. prejudice, 
any political influence, and I da 
not believe that yau will. You 
should look at this thing coldly and 
dispassionately. The Treasurer of 
this state has either been neglect­
ful in his duties or he has not been 
neglectful in his duties. and you will 
determine that que~tion on the 
facts that have gone in from this 
witness stand. 

Now I will try, for the sake of 
convenience, to confine my remarks 
in the order in which count.s appear 
in the indictment. and I will try to 
take them up in that order. 

Now, it appears here that the first. 
charge which is made against Mr. 
Smith is that he negligently failed 
in the performance of his duty to 
collect back taxes. And the evi­
dence has been confined solely to 
t.he bank taxes so referred to and 
t.he one railroad tax. and the evi­
dence discloses that the bank taxes 
were mostly in the year 1933 and 
that the railroad taxes ran from 
about 1931 down t.a around either 
to date or 1938 or 1939, I don't re­
call Which, and it is not material. 

Now. Mr. Smith. through his 
counsel. will undoubtedlv t8ke the 
position that Mr. Smith inherited 
this particular set-un and thflt 
therefore he is net re:,ponsible. I 
shall take this p.n~ition. that Mr. 
Smith being a public officer is nat 
entitled to claim in this investiga­
tion that he is nat obli.gated to 
attend to the unfinished business of 
his predecessor. It obviausly is 
true in the business of the state. in 
any other business: in the banking 
business. for instance. the Treasurer 
of a bank would be exnected to 8.t­
tend to the unfiniiShed business of 
a former Treasurer. 

And so it anpears in t.he evidence 
from the testimony of t.he Attorney 
General and. I think from MI' 
Smith but I am not po~itive and 
yOU will recollect whether it i.<; t.rue. 
t.hat there was never brought to 
the attention of the Attorney Gen­
eral that there never was anv at­
tempt on the part. of the Treas­
urer's office t.o collect t.hese nar­
ticular back taxes, and the Attor­
ney General has stgJ.ed on this 
stand-and he was called by the 
defense-~that those taxes in his 
opinion are collectible today on a 
percentage basis and he did state 

on cross examination that those 
banks which are in liquidation and 
have paid dividends were in a posi­
tion today to pay the ratio which 
they would have been able to pay 
on . those taxes if those had been 
fol.lowed up at the beginning of Mr. 
Smith's regime. 

So it. seems that generally the 
position on that particular count is 
that Mr. Smith, being obligated to 
attend to the unfinished duties of 
his office, neglected to make any 
attempt whatsoever to collect these 
particular taxes which amount to 
something over $72.000. 

Mr. Smith is charged that he 
failed to use proper diligence in at­
tempting to collect amounts due 
the st.ate of Maine in connection 
with checks which went to protest. 
Now, if you will remember the evi­
dence that was listed on this par­
ticular point. It appears that it 
was customary when checks came 
into various departments that they 
be depasited with the Trea.sury. 
that they were then deposited by 
the Treasury in the Depositors 
Trust Company where the checking 
business of the State is carried on. 
Those checks which were not paid 
were returned to the Treasurer's 
office. 

Now. bearing in mind the fact 
that the Code provides specifically 
that when checks go to protest the 
Treasurer must turn them over to 
the Finance Commissioner who 
sholl attempt the collection from 
then on, but it appears that it was 
the customary method of the Treas­
urer to send thase checks back to 
the departments from which they 
originated. And that those denart­
ments, some of them. had State 
Police working on tho.se checks, and 
so an. 

Now. the seriousness of this is 
not the amount of uncollected 
checks that there appear to be be­
cause there are approximately 
$2600 worth of them which have 
ari.<;en during Mr. Smith's reg'ime 
and that of course isn't a large 
amount taking into consideration 
the money ".chich the State does 
hand1.e annually. but it is iust an­
other instance where the Tl'f~!'!.sury 
department clid not function in ac­
cordance with the law. Ann Mr. 
Smith tells you, and Mr. Winship 
tells you that neither one of them 
rean the Code and it is in evidence 
and you probably will have a chance 
to look at it. And I :say to you that 
when vou examine it you wiU find 
th9.t the duties prescribed therein 
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relative to the Treasurer's office can 
be read in less than fifteen minutes. 

And Mr. Winship-and he a fine 
old gentleman and he has been 
splendid in this thing-whom Mr. 
Smith says himself he trusted im­
plicitly and referred to him the 
business of running his department 
-I don't mean that exactly but the 
detail work at least-that is the 
general stand which Mr. Smith 
takes, that he placed his trust in 
Mr. Winship and let Mr. Winship 
run the office, when Mr. Winship 
hadn't even read the Code. 

Now, I say to you is that evidence 
of inefficiency or is that evidence 
at an attempt at proper super­
vision? Now, that is the only 
matter concerned in this particular 
count. In and of itself it would 
create no claim but taking into 
consideration the general picture, 
the accumulative evidence in this 
case, it is just another instance 
that adds fuel to the fire, and does 
that fire indicate to you generally 
inefficiency throughout the Treas­
urer's office? 

Now, that is for your considera­
tion, and I want it strictly under­
stood at this time that I have a 
particular duty here as I under­
stand it, that I have come in here 
to present evidence for your con­
sideration. I am not here to urge 
anything. I am here to present. 
You are here to decide. And I am 
not going to attempt to tell you 
what your decision shall be because 
I do not think it is any part of my 
business and I am not concerned 
with what it is. It may be one way, 
it may be the other, and it makes 
absolutely no difference to me. 

The only thing that does concern 
me is that I do feel that I am 
obligated to call to your attention 
particular paints which indicat.e 
efficiency or indicate inefficiency, 
and you can make up your own 
minds what you want to do. 

Passing now to the third count 
which states that Mr. Smith ne­
glected to reinvest trust funds in 
accordance with the particular 
statute therein stated. 

Now, that statute provides this. 
that the Treasurer of State shall 
invest permanent trust funds in 
particular securities and that those 
securities may be the state bonds 
with the New England states, New 
York and Pennsylvania, or the 
cities, towns and counties of those 
particular states, as I remember it, 
and also may deposit in any bank 

in this State or bank of the United 
States as a time deposit. 

Now, it appears from the evi­
dence that Mr. Smith has exclusive 
control of these trust funds. He 
admits it so we can require no de­
liberation on that point. Mr. 
Smith, having exclusive control of 
those trust funds and making the 
investments himself that were made 
states to you that he knew the law 
in regard to this particular matter. 
that he knew the type of securities 
in which he could make invest­
ments in regard to trust funds. 
and he knew, he said, that the law 
required permanent funds to be 
invested in a particular manner. 

Now, I asked him, where he has 
exclusive control of these trust 
funds and admits that he knows 
that the law requires a particular 
type of investment with regard to 
permanent trust funds, did he ever 
make any attempt to find out 
which of these funds were per­
manent? And he said No. Now, 
I submit to you, a man having a 
particular duty and knowing that 
these funds should be invested in 
particular securities and admitting 
that he never made any attempt 
to find out which of the funds were 
subject to this law, is that evidence 
of neglect on his part? 

Mr. Smith is also charged in the 
fourth count, or in "A" rather, 
under the fourth count, with not 
having kept in his department re­
ceipts from the sales in the Garage 
and with having permitted remit­
tances from the sales of the State 
Garage to be made by the Control­
ler's office. Now, in regard to this 
count this appears in evidence, thRt 
over in this particular Garage 
there were certain commodities 
sold and that every time a com­
modity was sold a receipt was is­
sued therefor. of which there were 
an original and four copies. 

Now, the customary method of 
procedure was that the cash rep­
resented by that receipt, either 
cash or check, would go down to 
the Controller's office. From there 
an income sheet was made up on 
that cash, and there is some dis­
pute as to whether it was also ac­
companied by a sales re;ceipt, but 
it went into the Treasurer's office 
and the deposit was thereby made. 

Now it also appears from the evi­
dence that Mr. Runnells, who was 
the Controller of the State, had 
prescribed forms to be used by dif­
ferent departments, and the Code 
provides that the Controller has 
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that authority, And apparently 
Mr, Runnells had prepared this 
form of receipt and on it it said, on 
the pink copy, to be retained in 
the Treasurer's office or to be filed 
in the Treasurer's office or words 
to that effect, So this cash and 
the income sheets and the receipts, 
were taken into the Treasurer's 
office, if the receipts were taken, 
were then credited on the Treas­
urer's books and a record made of 
the particular department from 
which the funds originated. 

Now on these receipts, to clear 
up this matter, Miss Chase has 
testified that the receipts did not 
come in to the Treasurer's depart­
ment. Miss Currier has testified 
that they did come into the Treas­
urer's department until about a 
year ago and since that time there 
have been many occasions when 
they did not come in. 

Now I don't think there is in­
volved here a test of credability be­
tween these two witnesses. It is a 
matter of probable recollection but 
Miss Chase said that the other de­
partments did send in their re­
ceipts. 

So are you going to take this 
position, that the Treasurer's office, 
receiving no sales receipts from the 
Highway Department, should have 
required them, should have said, 
"Well what is the matter here, we 
are getting receipts from these 
other departments. What is the 
idea that we don't get them on this 
particular matter?" 

Did that indicate inefficiency? 
Now if you do decide that those 
slips did go in there, it then ap­
pears that the Treasurer's office did 
not file them as the slips required 
on their face. And it also appears 
that the Treasurer's office would be 
apprized of the fact that these 
funds originated over in the gar­
age, because on this slip it is stated 
the department from which it 
originated. For instance, it would 
have said Highway Garage. So 
that on examination they would 
have been aware of the fact that 
funds were coming in from the 
garage which they contend here 
now to you that they are to be ex­
cused because they never knew they 
were receiving funds from the High­
way: that they all came in under 
the general Highway Department 
account. But I say to you: You 
can throw all of that overboard. It 
doesn't make any particular differ­
ence in considering this which is 
the fact beyond dispute. The 

Treasurer's office was aware of the 
fact that the Controller's office was 
turning in to it Highway funds, 
and if anyone in the Treasurer's 
office had been a ware of the pro­
visions of the Code which states 
that department shall turn in its 
own funds into the Treasury, if 
anyone in the office had been aware 
of that provision, they would have 
known with these funds coming 
from the Controller's office, they 
would have asked: "Why is the 
Controller's office turning Highway 
funds into us?" They would have 
inquired. Now that is the meat of 
that particular set-up, and so you 
will say to yourselves, is that evi­
dence of inefficiency, evidence of 
neglectful supervision? 

Now under (b) of the fourth 
count, the Treasurer is charged with 
the fact that he negligently failed 
to supervise the acts of his Deputy. 
whereby the Deputy cashed five 
checks aggregating at least three 
thousand dollars. As I recollect 
the evidence on that particular 
point. five checks came into the 
Controller's office, payable to the 
state Highway. These checks were 
endorsed in this manner. You can 
examine them: they are in evi­
dence. "state Highway Commis­
sion, By W. A. Runnells, Gontrol­
ler." Now anyone, whether they 
knew the law or not, would know 
that was an improper endorse­
ment. They would know that Mr. 
Runnells, the Controller, has no 
right to endorse State Highway De­
partment checks. They are two 
separate functions. And yet when 
these checks were presented to Mr. 
Winship by Mr. Runnells, he gives 
the cash for them to Mr. Runnells 
and then, so far as we know, there 
was a loss to the state of that 
amount of money. 

Here is anotl:er situation which 
is like the protested checks. It is a 
small amount compared with the 
other amounts involved here. It is 
.iust another question of inefficiency. 
If Mr. Smith had ever taken any 
occasion to inquire in a general 
manner as to the way Mr. Winship 
was handling the cash in that 
office, he would have been aware of 
this situation. Perhaps not these 
particular five checks, because 
there are only five, but taken in 
conjunction with those which were 
later produced, the practice was 
continued over the three and one­
half years that Mr. Smith was in 
there, does it all add up to neglect­
ful supervision? 
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Now Mr. Smith is alsoO charged 
that he permitted the Controller, or 
rather that he negligently failed to 
supervise the acts of Mr, Winship 
whereby Mr. Winship cashed ten 
checks for the CoOntroller, thereby 
depleting the cash of the State 
Treasury, Now it appears on that 
that the Controller used to come 
into the office and Mr. Winship 
says, and I have no doubt of it, he 
told him that he was trying to 
check up on soOme payroll or some­
thing of that sort, and if a check 
went through to pay for the service 
of this particular spotter, or what­
ever you choose to call him, people 
would be aware of who he was, 
thereby meaning that it would de­
crease his effectiveness. He says to 
Mr. Winship, "Cash this check for 
me and I will use the cash instead 
of putting through the check." 
Now here is the thing: These 
checks were made payable to the 
Treasurer of State. There was a 
designation on it of the Bureau of 
AccoOunts and Control which meant 
that the job would be charged or 
credited to that particular depart­
ment. And so that check was 
cashed in the Treasurer's office. I 
submit that any man would know 
that that was a most irregular 
procedure because, for instance, if 
I came up to one of you gentlemen 
and handed you a check payable 
to yourself and asked you for the 
cash, does it make sense? That is 
the set-up on that. 

Now as far as Mr. Winship is 
concerned, he had implicit con­
fidence in Mr. Runnells and per­
haps Mr. Winship isn't to be con­
demned for this because he had im­
plicit coOnfidence, but is it just an­
other method of doing business in 
the Treasury office? 

Now under (d). Mr. Smith is 
charged with failing properly to 
supervise the acts of his Deputy 
whereby interdepartmental checks 
were cashed by Runnells and it ap­
pears that there were twenty-three 
of these checks, which totalled 
some $47,000. The other ten which 
I referred to toOtalled some $7,000. 
Now in regard to these interde­
partmental, it appears that Mr. 
Runnells came in the same as 
the ten checks previously referred 
to and cashed them for a different 
reason which he explained to Mr 
Winship. So probably so far as 
you are concerned, the same general 
set-up maintains. The fact of the 
matter is they were all checks pay-

able to the Treasurer himself. You 
have the same situation again as 
if I brought you my check payable 
to yourself and asked you for the 
cash. That is about the whole 
story on those checks. They have 
run over a period, as I previoOusly 
mentioned, trom the beginning of 
Mr. Smith's regime, and the Prac­
tice would have apparently con­
tinued if it had noOt been for the 
fact that an audit had been made. 

Now do you think that it is proper 
to excuse Mr. Smith because of the 
fact that, as he says, he actually 
did not know? He told you on the 
stand that he did not consider it a 
full time .iob, and he relied on his 
assistants to do what they were 
supposed to do. I don't know 
whether he knew what they were 
supposed to do, but he says, at least 
the impression I got, was that he 
relied on Mr. Winship to see that 
the other subordinates did what 
they were supposed to do. 

Now there is another matter, 
which is contained in the fifth 
count, in regard to the excessive 
deposits. It appears there that 
there are several banks as set out 
in the complaint or information, 
five or six, which contain depOSits 
moOre than 25 % of the capital stock 
and surplus of those banks. I am 
not going into each and everyone. 
The exhibits are all in evidence and 
you can examine them for your­
selves. Mr. Smith's position on that 
is apparently that there were agen­
cies around the State which had to 
deposit funds and they would be 
deposited in these various banks, 
and he could not know until the de­
posit slips came through just what 
the amounts were in those banks. 

I think on cross-examination he 
stated, if I remember his testimony 
correctly, that he seldom did see the 
deposit slips after the time they 
came through. It seems that his 
excuse that a deposit slip did not 
come through is not effective be­
cause if it had he would not have 
examined it. He will probably take 
the position, from evidence which 
has been put in by Mr. Gillin, that 
there were large sums of money 
coming in from the:-e agencies and 
cons·equently large deposits had to be 
made, and consequently there would 
be times when these deposits would 
creep up. 

You will note, if you will examine 
an exhibit which I put in here, that 
these deposits run up and down. 
There might be several days when 
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they would be way up and then 
again they might be way down, and 
then they might be way up again. 
You will find that these deposits 
ran thirty-five thousand, that is, 
the exceRS of forty thousand dollars, 
twenty thousand dollars, and so 
forth and so on. 

Now I submit to you that there 
were two methods by which that 
situation could obviously have be,en 
remedied. l"irst, as Mr. Smith ad­
mitted on the stand, h8 could have 
designated more depositories around 
the State. For instance, in Portland 
there are a lot of banks. Here is 
one Portland bank listed in here. 
So there would be no need of getting 
an excessive deposit in that par­
tIcular bank. Or the slip would 
come through the v·ery next day 
and the amount could be withdrawn 
by the Treasurer's office, yet you will 
find, if you examine this exhibit 
that those deposits would continue in 
those large cases. 

Now, how does that impress yau? 
That the law was adhered to by the 
Treasurer's Department in this re­
spect, or was there a negkctful 
supervision of these particular de­
posits, and would you expect Mr. 
Smith to keep himself familiar:zed 
with the amount of State cash de­
posit-ed in different banks through­
out the State? Now, it is entirelv 
up to you. . 

There are two situations yoU can 
look at here, the general philasophy 
you may take in approaching a de­
cision which you must eventually 
make in this matter. I have got to 
go at this in reviewing the thing 
from the standpoint of a lawyer, be': 
~ause I have been engaged to come 
111 here and pres,ent it and I am an 
attorney, and I presume it is the 
way I am expected to approach it. 
and if yoU approach it from a legal 
point of view there are certain r2-
quir.2ments of the Treasurer's office 
set out in the various laws and con­
stitution of this State, and they say 
that the Treasurer's office shall do 
this and this and this. I have not 
time to review them, but you will 
remember some of them were read 
here. Mr. Smith is going to take 
this position, "well yes, although I 
didn't do that, I didn't conform with 
the law, still I functioned as effic­
iently as my predecessor and I re­
hed upon my subordinates and so 
consequently I am not to be cen­
sored for it". Looking at t~is from 
a legal point of view, are you going 
to require that the state depart­
ment conduct its business affairs to 

conform with the law? Are you go­
ing to r,equire it? Now the constitu­
tional provision was made for some 
reason, and the Code was passed for 
some reason, and the bank law 
p::tssed for some reason, and the 
bank st,atutes passed for some rea­
son and trust fund statut,es passed 
for some reason. Now, if you are 
going to require the Treasurer's 
office to live up to those legal pro­
visions you will probably reach one 
decision. 

Now, if you are going to approach 
this, we will say perhaps from a lay­
man's point of view, the point of 
view of anyone who is not familiar 
with the law and its operation, you 
may say, "Well what of it? As Mr. 
Smith says, it was not a full time 
job and he has done as well as his 
predec'2ssor and perhaps better, and 
some, at least one of his subordinates 
failed to give proper attention and 
r do not think we oug'ht to condemn 
him, because he has done as much 
as his pred·ecessor." Now, if you are 
g'oing ta approach it from that view­
point of course there is only one de­
cision you can reach. 

Now. as bearing upon the posi­
tion Which the defense will take, 
that Mr. Smith cannot be expected 
to familiarize himself with aJl the 
intric;1te mechanics of the Treas­
urer's department, which of course, 
is true and I would even admit that 
he is not sUPPos'3d to know when 
one of the girls makes an entry on 
tlio twenty-third day of Mayan a 
particular matter, but he is supposed 
to supervise his dep:utment as is set 
forth in the statute which I read 
into th8 evidence. It says that the 
T'rea~Ui'er shall give a bc'nd in the 
sum of ~;150,OOO, which I admit has 
been given, conditioned upon the 
faithful performance of his duties 
and the duties of his subordinates. 

If you are going to take the posi­
tion that Mr. Smith did as much as 
his predecessor, what is the ob.iect 
of having a law which requires him 
to file a bond? Does it se·2m to in­
dicate to yo:.! the fact that the con­
stitution speaks of the faithful per­
formance of the Treasurer's duty, 
and this particular statute speaks of 
the faithful performanc·e of the du­
ties of Mr. Smith and his subordi­
nates. It thereby was intended, in 
the case of the statute, passed by 
this legislature - perhaps not che 
sam2 members were in it, but gener­
ally speaking-3nd it was intended 
by them and they passed. the law, 
or rather. was it intended that the 
Treasurer's office should function or 
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the Treasurer hims,elf, function with 
a considerable degree of effective­
ness and that he should be charged 
with the neglect of himself and 
subordinates. Now, that is for your 
consideration. 

There has been some testimony 
here in regard to the effect that 
Mr. Runnells had upon some of the 
employees and the position will be 
taken by the defense that the sub­
ordinates in the Treasurer's office 
thought they should do what Mr. 
Runnells told them, and Miss Chase 
even stated here from this witness 
stand that Mr. Runnells, when he 
spoke, made a bigger impression up­
on her than Mr. Smith did when he 
spoke, as I recall it. In fact she 
said-I do not know whether it was 
Miss Ohase, but one of the ladies 
connected with the department 
said-everybody seemed to have an 
inferiority complex in regard to 
Mr. Runnells. Now, it is apparent 
from those statements that Mr. 
Smith never made any attempt to 
impress upon his subordinates that 
he was running the department. If 
such is the case, does that appear 
to support a contention that Mr. 
Smith has not provided personally. 
adequate supervision of his depart­
ment in these particular matters 
with which he is charged? 

Of course you are to consider only 
the inefficiency in regard to these 
particular counts because in this 
particular investigation it is con­
fined to this and cannot go outside, 
and I feel it my duty to pr,esent 
what I have on all the counts. You 
may consider the evidence presented 
on some of the counts doesn't 
amount to a great deal, but as I 
stat,ed before, I was requested to 
come in and put in what evidence 
there was on each count. If it sup·· 
ported them, all right, and if it 
didn't, all right. 

Now, the defense put on here yes­
terday Mr. Holley to establish the 
fact that Mr. Smith was so busy 
that he had little time to--I want 
to state this fairly if I can--he was 
so busy that he could not devote all 
of his time to thE: Treasurer's job, 
thereby inferring if it had not been 
for these ex officio duties he would 
have devoted more time to it. I do 
not believe I will comment on the 
details of Mr Holley's testimony. I 
might in passing say this, that even 
though the Treasurer's office might 
have been under an inferiority com­
plex, that situatiol' certainly cannot 
pertain to the State Assessor. When 
he tells you the innumerable duties 

that the Treasurer's office had, of 
course it is for you to decide the 
amount of weight you can attach 
tc it. 

Now Mr. Smith says he is a mem­
ber of various boards and that he 
comes over here to Augusta two 
days a week, sometimes three, the 
first of the week. He is here Tues­
day and Wednesday a.; I remember, 
and sometimes Monday, Tuesday 
and Wednesday, and at that time 
he attends to his particular duties. 
Now there was put in yesterday by 
the defense some evidence whereby 
it appeared there were innumerable 
meetings of this Emergency Muni­
cipal Finance Board, and on these 
particular dates they were attended 
by Mr. Smith, thereby indicating to 
you that Mr. Smith was over here 
Monday, Tuesday and Wednesday, 
and apparently looking after the 
duties of the Treasurer; but here are 
a lot of meetings of the Board and 
other times apparently he was at­
tending those meetings, but you will 
remember in passing upon the ques­
tion, that Mr. Smith testified here 
today from a calendar, in regard to 
questions which I asked him, that 
all of the questions I did ask him it 
was apparent that the meetings of 
the board were on that particular 
day. 

Does it impress you from this evi­
dence that generally speaking, Mr. 
Smith attended to the duties of his 
office, his primary office, the office 
of the State Treasurer, on the same 
days that he attended the board 
meetings? If you are impressed 
with that and if you are impressed 
with 'he fact that Mr. Smith is not 
cbligated to give full time, as he 
says, to his duties, then of course, 
there is only one decision you can 
reach on that particular point. 

Now, in regard to these board 
meetings, I just want to say this, 
3nd I think I am nearly finished. 

Mr. Smith was elected to the of­
hce of Treasurer of this State. That 
was his primary job. He was the 
sale responsible head of that office. 
He was, by virtue of that office, a 
member of different boards which 
dealt with different matters, and he 
has admitted to you from the stand 
that if he did not attend these board 
meetings the other members would 
take care of the business just the 
same. But of course it is apparent 
that if he didn't attend to his duties 
as Treasurer of State there was no 
one to attend to them. 

Now you were confronted with 
this point. It is for you to decide 
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whether Mr. Smith, if he were so 
pressed for time, should sacrifice his 
board meetings for the sake of car­
ing for his Treasury meetings, and 
it is apparent to me, at least, as the 
evidence went in, that most of these 
board meetings were on the same 
days as Mr. Smith had set aside to 
look after his Treasury duties. 

Now I do not know anything else 
that I can say to you. You have 
heard the evidence. I have tried to 
be as fair as I possibly could in this 
investigation, bearing in mind the 
fact that I was obligated to put in 
what evidence I had and to present 
it to you. And so, in closing, I will 
simply say to you: Is the general 
set-up of this investigation as dis­
closed by the evidence this: That 
in regard to all these counts there 
was a general lack of supervision? 

I ask you: Does that appear? 
Now of course if it cloes 8,ppear, 

and vou are going to look at this 
from the view that the legal re­
quirements of the office were such, 
then your duty is plain. If you are 
going to look at it from the stand­
point that Mr. Smith performed as 
adequately and perhaps better than 
his predecessor, of course you will 
perhaps reach a different conclusion. 

In closing, I would just like to 
say that I appreciate the patience 
that you have shown. There have 
been times when it was necessary 
for an adjournment here because I 
did not have my evidence sufficient­
ly marshalled. and I want to thank 
you again for the consideration you 
have shown for me. And I also 
want to thank this Convention for 
being afforded an opportunity to 
come here and assist in this inves­
tigation, if 1 have been of assistance. 

Mr. GILLIN: Mr. Chairman, and 
ladies and gentlemen of the Con­
vention: This has been rather a 
long, bedious, uninteresting affair, 
put, as Mr. Brown has suggested, and 
of course as it has occurred to you 
aU, a tremendously important one, 
important in respect that it involves 
the integrity of the administration 
through one of its officials, and of 
extreme importance to the individual 
who holds that office. It is of course 
an extremely unpleasant situation 
that you who may know the indivi­
dual, Mr. Smith, find yourselves 
called upon to judge, and it is not 
pleasant to assume the r,esponsi­
bility that counsel must assume in 
defending a friend under charges. 

I think it is fair to note the direc­
tion which this prosecution has 
taken. I think it fair to say that it 

was a direct incidental result of the 
embarrassing disclosures which came 
publicly to light several months agO. 
It demonstrated to the public this: 
Not only that we had one man who 
was apparently extremely corrupt, 
but that the very structure of the 
administrative set-up of our State 
was subject to break-down, that 
however much care the authors of 
the Code, who sought to unify con­
trol and to concentrate authority 
and to promo be efficiency, took in 
their study, presentment and pas­
sage of the Oode act, that the Oode 
itself was so passed that it could 
break down tremendously. 

As an incident of that, because 
this corrupt official, either by orig­
inal design or because as he went 
on in his administration, he dis­
covered an opportunity to take ad­
vantage of that situation, the citi­
zens are aroused, the administra­
tion is embarrassed, the State has 
lost money and we are here today. 
And Mr. Smith, because the depart­
ment of which he has charge per­
mitted the possibility of the State's 
losing large sums through the cash­
ing of checks indicates that there 
was never any proper correlation 
betwixt the Code administration and 
the many distributing departments 
of the State. 

So that at the outset I trust you 
will bear with me that the start of 
that line of events which has 
brought us here today to consider 
Mr. Smith's case is basically and 
fundamentally the result of an im­
proper Code, and the advantage 
taken uf ths.t situation by a thor­
ouughly corrupt official. 

Now it has been said that one can 
read ohe Code in fifteen minutes. I 
think it possible that in the brief 
review I am going to make of some 
of these provisions there will de­
velop things about it that many of 
you today have not known. 

The Code was set up, if you read 
it carefully, to concentrate the basic 
administrative authority in depart­
ments under the control of the ex­
ecutive department. It was the ex­
ecutive department which in the 
first instance appointed the heads 
of departments, of the administra­
tive departments, and it was the 
executive department exclusively 
which under that Code law had any 
regulation, control or power over the 
administration or authority or pow­
eJ to supervise it or authority or 
power to prevent its going astray. 
And that is not, as I see it, criti­
cism of the failure of the executive 
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to so do. It is a statement that 
that department was the only one 
that could do it. 

Now the Code provided for a De­
partment of Finance, under which 
was the Controller, and the Code 
permitted and provided that that 
department should investigate and 
set up a complete administration "to 
investigate duplication of work of 
departments and other agencies of 
the state government, to study the 
organization and administration of 
such departments and agencies, and 
to formulate plans for better and 
more effective management". That 
was the basic power, to investigate 
and set up. 

"To audit and approve all bills, 
invoices, accounts, payrolls, and all 
other evidences of claims, demands, 
or charges against the state govern­
ment; and to determine the regu­
larity legality, and correctness of 
such claims, demands, or charges." 
Practically full and complete power 
subject to the appointing executive. 

"To prescribe the forms of re­
ceipts, vouchers, bills, or claims to 
1>e filed by any and all departments, 
and agencies with the department 
of finance." 

"To exercise the rights, powers, 
and duties heretofore conferred and 
imposed by law upon the state audi­
tor in so far as these relate to finan­
cial administration and general ac­
counting control of the State gov­
ernment, involving the keeping of 
general accounts, the auditing be­
fore payment of all bills or vouch­
ers; and the authoriZing of all 
claims against the state for which 
appropriations have been made." 

Now what administrative power or 
authority was left outside that de­
partment? They could set up, they 
could investigate, they could change, 
they could approve, and they alone 
had that power. 

Further, to broaden that power, 
which, as you will see, was an in­
vestment in that department of 
powers heretofore exercised by other 
departments, a further general en­
abling section is found: 

"Whatever rights, powers, and 
duties shall have been vested in, or 
exercised by any officer, board, com­
mission, department, or institution, 
or any deputy, inspector, or subordi­
nate officer thereof, which are by 
this act transferred either in whole 
or in part to a department created 
by this act, shall be exercised by 
the department to which the same 
are hereby transferred and not oth­
erwise;" 

So that all of the administrative 
power which theretofore was exer­
cised by other institutions and de­
partments either in whole or in part 
were completely divested, including 
every power, right and authority in 
the Treasury Department, except 
those specifically named in the Con­
stitution, and of course you know 
the Treasurer was a constitutional 
officer. When the Code was passed, 
the Treasurer could not be brought 
in under the Code unless the Con­
stitution was amended, and it was 
not seen fit so to do. So we have 
this anomalous situation: A con­
stitutional officer had what I may 
describe in common parlance as the 
"till", and a set of accounting 
books. He received the money of 
the State. He depesited the money 
0" the State. He held the securities 
of the State and he reinvested the 
securities of the state. But the 
complete direction of expenditure, 
the complete control for bookkeep­
ing, auditing, administrative set-up 
and administration itself passed un­
der this general provision, plus spe­
cific provisions yoc; have had read 
to you, to the Finance Department. 
And what could the Highway De­
partment, or the Treasury Depart­
ment or the Banking Department 
head or any other department head, 
whose powers were transferred into 
this department, do about it? It 
says: "shall be exercised by the de­
partment to which the same are 
hereby transferred and not other­
wise." 

"All books, records, papers, docu­
ments, property, real and personal. 
unexpended appropriations, and 
pending business in any way per­
taining to the rights, powers, and 
duties so transferred to or vested in 
a department created by this act 
shall be delivered and transferred 
to the department succeeding to 
such rights, powers and duties." 
Now. back of that law. which I 
argue invested in that department 
the duties of the general adminis­
trative department, there was only 
one Controller and that was the 
executive. 

Now, the Code provided that the 
department should "make monthly 
reports of all receipts and expendi­
tures of the State government to 
the Governor and State Auditor; to 
make monthly reportE on appropri­
ations, allotments, encumbrances 
and authorized payments to the 
Governor, to the State Auditor, and 
to the head of the department or 
agency directly concerned". And 
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again "the State Auditor shall keep 
no accounts in tJ,e department of 
Audit but he shall conduct a con­
tinuous post audit of the accounts, 
books, records and other evidences 
of financial transactions kept in the 
Department of l"inance or in the 
other departments and agencies of 
the State Government. He shall 
prepare and publish a report set­
ting forth the essential facts of such 
audit in summary form within two 
months after th<c close of each fiscai 
year. If he shall [md in the course 
of his audit evidences of improper 
action or of incompetence in keep­
ing accounts or handling funds, or 
of any other improper practice of 
financial administration, he shall re­
port the same to the Governor im­
mediately." And I .submit that un­
der the constitutional duty, the gen­
eral constitutionai duty, imposed on 
the Governor to see that the laws 
are enforced and upon the Council 
to assemble with the Governor in 
a majority from time to time for 
the purpose of directing the affairs 
of the State according to law, that 
the breakdown of this Code, or what 
went on under this Code, could only 
be controlled, could only be deter­
mined, by the function of the Au­
ditor or the Governor and Council 
through the reports furnished them 
by the Auditor or which he could 
have furnished them by request. 

And I submit as a general prop­
osition, as a general proposition, 
that the responsibility for the con·­
tinued abus·e of power by the Ac·­
counts and Control Head was solely 
the responsibility of the Executive 
Department; and I don't think that 
in your debate you can select any 
other conclusion out of that Code. 

What could the Tr·easurer do? 
What are the conditions imnosed? 
Basically, the Code warrarlts no 
other conclusion. 

Now this department of Audit 
cashed a lot of irregular checks in 
the Treasury Department. Wit­
neSS'2S have testified and it is prob­
ably within the realm of common 
knowledge that Mr. Runnells, with 
that power behind him and with 
the concentration of the p::Jwer 
which he apparently developed for 
hims·elf for the period from 1932 
down to 1937, had put himself in a 
position by which he warranted the 
remarks of one of these girls who 
testified that he apparently ran the 
State House-and that was not a 
facetious remark on her part. 

With that departmental authority 
and with his apparent capacity for 

auditing organization he gradually 
extended his tentacles around the 
vitals of every other department 
until gradually he had the complete 
control of the hearts of all the de­
partments. 

And because he did effect such a 
focus of control, and because that 
operated from 1932-and I am going 
to say, and I believe, that his Exc·el­
lency has admitted that he as well 
as everybody else who had anything 
to do with Runnells had a complete 
trust in his integrity-that is the 
thing that is so disturbing in this 
situation: the same general charge 
that is being leveled at Mr. Smith 
in connection with this check draw­
ing itself, that he had no right to 
rest his responsibility and trust up­
OIl a subordinate, that same charge 
can be made as fairly and more 
pointedly at the Executive. 

Now, that is fair argument. That 
is an absolute conclusion that can­
not, I submit, be successfully con­
tested. If Mr. Smith is to be 
evicted from this office for the main 
charge, the charge that set up this 
investigation that by reason of his 
trust in a subordinate he has to be 
responsible tor that subordinate's 
lack of judgment, because there is 
no intimation that Mr. Winship is 
a dishonorable man, if the Treas­
urer is to be responsible for the 
misjudgment of that individual sub­
ordinate who was up against this 
man who was running the central 
part of your government, as this 
man was, that same blame in a 
much greater share attaches to the 
Governor and Council for having 
that same trust in that very sub­
ordinate who came so nearly to 
wr-ecking the financial adminis­
tration to this State. 

Now. that is not a defense of Mr. 
Smith but I wanted to call your at­
tention to the direction this thing 
is taking and I wanted to call your 
attention to that situation which is 
a correct analysis, I submit, of the 
situation as it is. 

Now the charges in this present­
ment bear this mark. At the outset 
a large defalcation occurred because 
out of the Treasury Department 
money was taken by Runnells cash­
ing checks with Mr. Winship and I 
am in the very anomalous situation 
of defending the reputation, the in­
tegrity, the official position and the 
emoluments of a man whom every­
body concedes is absolutely honest, 
generally and absolutely honest. as 
Treasurer. 

Now that is the shift that the 
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course of events have given to this. 
H you will, let us measure Mr. 
Smith's responsibility. It has not 
yet been measured. L,et us measure 
it. The Legislature that passed this 
Code and the Legislatures succeed­
ing it were charged with the knowl­
edge that the Treasury Department 
was divested and denuded of all its 
power and authority. He was 
simply, so far as the funds of the 
State were concerned, a depositor 
with no executive or administrative 
power or responsibility, to take in 
the funds of the state, to keep them 
safe and to dispense them as the 
Bureau of Accounts and Control 
ordered them out. 

Now I don't think that anyone 
will rise to debate that a depart­
ment of that size which has so much 
bookkeeping, which has so much 
voucher handling, is best adminis­
tered as has been and is the treas­
ury of Maine prior to and during 
Mr. Smith's incumbency. It's per­
sonnel was experienced and honest 
and efficient except for the swindl­
ing by Mr. Runnells and taking ad­
vantage of the power and authority 
that was invested in him. There 
is no criticism in the division of 
duties and responsibilities in the 
Treasurer's office. Obviously the 
Treasurer which you elect at a salary 
of $3000 a year against a Deputy 
Treasurer whom you pay for full 
time work, you know that you ex­
pect the interior administration of 
the department to be carried on 
as it was by a group of intelligent, 
efficient. well trained girls, expe­
rienced girls under the head, if I 
may say it, of a professional admin­
istrator or accountant such as Mr. 
Winship's experience entitled him 
to be regarded. 

Now. what is the measure by 
which we are going to measure Mr. 
Smith's responsibility? Who is satis­
fied how to measure it? Who of you 
have thought, so far, how to meas­
ure it? I submit it is this, in the 
absence of any statutory regulation 
about it. and I should lik,e to cite 
to the members who are lawyers if 
they would care to make a note, the 
case of the inhabitants of Cumber­
land County versus Pennell, 69 
Maine 357 where our Court gave 
very full consideration and extended 
discussion to the measure of the 
responsibility of a treasurership, 
and it narrows down simply to this, 
I submit. the same general rule 
which governs the conduct of rea­
sonable men under given circum­
stances. 

I submit that if Mr. Smith, com­
ing into this well organized office, 
after investigation, in the exercise of 
reasonable judgment, having in mind 
that he was to be the custodian of 
public funds and an important unit 
in our administrative system exer­
cised reasonable care, reasonably 
honest care, in the selection of the 
man who was to direct the me­
chanical parts of that d·epartment 
he measured up to his duty in the 
first instance. I suggest that is 
probably the ultimate measure of 
his responsibility so far as funds 
being taken out of his department, 
as they were, by Runnells. 

Now he came into a situation 
where they wrote a million checks 
a year, eighty-three thousand 
checks a month, with facsimile sig­
natures, in a machine. He was 
either responsible to personally see 
and inspect each and everyone of 
those checks, to see to it himself 
that they were correct:y drawn and 
to see that each and everyone was 
either delivered or sent to the payee, 
or he wasn't charged with that re­
sponsibility in connection with any 
one. Take it or leave it. Figure it 
out any way you can. He had to 
depend on subordinates. The sys­
tem required it. 

Now you charged Mr. Smith with 
the responsibility for this Control­
ler's cashing checks by fraud, by im­
posing 011 the trust which Mr. Win­
ship says he had and which he was 
entitled to have because since 1932 
the auditors who under that Code 
were supposed to check him had 
passed his work, you call Mr. Smith 
responsible for anyone check that 
Mr. Winship, the tried and true, ex­
perienced man in that department, 
cashed and you say that Mr. Smith 
had to sit down and check over and 
attend to the distribution of every 
one of those million checks a year, 
that he had to let go out of that 
department with his facsimile sig­
nature on it without any knowledge 
of it because of the system which 
this man set up for him to do, and 
then 'iee if that is what you really 
Plink his responsibility was when 
you measure up his salary against 
the salary of his head clerk. 

Now, I.;ubmit that that is fair 
argument. I say that Mr. Smith. 
exercising a reasonable degree of 
judgment and care in the selection 
of this subordinate of his was un­
able, within the scope of the law or 
the injunctions of the Legislature, 
he was unable to carry forward 
such necessary degree of supervision 
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as to have caught anyone of those 
items. Why? Because he wasn't 
charged with the inspection and 
handling of everyone of those 
checks and the handling of the 
checks by his subordinate. and be­
cause those checks were issued and 
handled and cashed bv the man who 
put Smith's name on them presum­
ably when he wasn't there and 
didn't know anything about it, or 
when he was there and did know 
about it. How can you say that 
that situation even permitted Mr. 
Smith to exercise that reasonable 
degree of supervision which one 
must exercise over a subordinate 
after careful selection, because if 
Mr. Runnells could go in to Mr. 
Winship and presume on Winship's 
respect for his authority and in­
tegrity and tell him a story that 
Winship believec:., with the full pow­
er under the statute that I have 
read to you, to pass on the legality 
and regularity of every claim with­
out any complicity on Winship's 
part, that subordinate which Smith 
picked out was still faithful. 

Call it misconception of his duty; 
call it a matter of misjudgment. but 
when you do that, measure up the 
power this man apparently had over 
all subordinates here. 

You can say Winship was un­
faithful. The conditions of the bond 
are that these officers shall exercise 
fidelity in the exercise of their trust. 
So I submit in fairness, that Mr. 
Smith's job, as the Legislature well 
knew it when they elected him, was 
to go into that department which 
had to be run by a well paid sub­
ordinate and group of clerks whose 
work was mainly clerical, his job 
was just about the kind of a job as 
you heard it described: no more and 
no less. You have got to take him 
off from one side of the job and put 
him into that mechanical depart­
ment or leave him where he was, 
attempting to impose taxes and on 
this Board of municipal control. Do 
you want him there under a sub­
ordinate or is he the Treasurer 
whose duty is measured by the care 
which he exercised in the selection 
of his group and permitted them to 
function as they had been instruct­
ed to function and used to function 
under the head of a department 
who, according to one of these sub­
ordinates, and I guess it is fair crit­
icism, the answer was elicited that 
he apparently ran everything in the 
State House. 

Now with respect to these other 
charges, because that really war, the 

main charge, but when it got start­
ed it gained motion like a snowball, 
there was an effort made, and quite 
properly I have no doubt, not only 
to consider the removal of Mr. 
Smith for the thing which originally 
caused this situation and produced 
the commencement of this proceed­
ing which we are engaged in today, 
but there has been added to it oth­
er causes, not so much relatively, 
which as my brother has said, in 
themselves amounted not to much. 

Now let me briefly review the 
charges. There is an allegation that 
he failed in the performance of his 
duties, not tn failing to collect back 
taxes. He is not charged with the 
failure to collect back taxes. He is 
charged with the failure to use 
proper diligence in the endeavor to 
collect back taxes. As has been 
said, except for the case of the Lime 
Rock Railroad where the taxes 
amounted to a negligible amount, 
the bills were handled in his office 
under the girl who handled the bill­
ing of the taxes, and I think you 
will agree with me that simply be­
cause the taxes in that little rail­
road are unpaid that does not go to 
the neglect of the Treasurer or for 
the removal of the Treasurer or 
public official. The Lime Rock 
Railroad tax which was billed out 
several times, alone and standing by 
itself, is relatively a minor thing. 
I do not understand that it has 
been demonstrated that it is uncol­
lectible, so there is nothing wrong. 

Now as to the banks that went 
into liquidation and receivership 
back in 1933. By the injunctive re­
straint of our Court and under the 
statute. the Tr'easurer was directed 
and authorized to do but one thing, 
to bring an action of debt which, 
according to the Attorney General, 
he could not do. If you are going to 
measure his responsibility, as in 
fairness I submit he is entitl,ed to 
have it measured, if Mr. Smith did 
not violate that rule of using rea­
sonable care, I claim you cannot 
demonstrate he was negligent. The 
situation was that these banks 'Were 
in the hands of receivers. He in­
herited these taxes and he could not 
collect them. The banks could not 
be sued. As he told you today, in 
1937 he was not aware of these bank 
taxes. and there is no loss to the 
State because the Attorney General 
when I questioned him as to whether 
or not he had changed his opinion 
from that given in the Auditor's re­
port that these could be collected, 
said no, except in the case of a na-
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tional bank which had been liqui­
dated completely. Mr. Brown in dis­
cussing the Attorney General's testi­
mony, as I understood it, quoted 
the Attorney General as saying that 
becaus·e of the different ratio in the 
capacity of the banks to pay, there 
was going to be a large loss. I do 
not agree with that and I ask you 
to check it in the record. I think 
yoU will find it to be this way: The 
Attorney General beUeves those 
taxes are collectible today, except 
for one national bank, 'and Mr. 
Smith's removal is sought because 
of that, the failure to use due dili­
gence to collect back taxes. I am 
going to leave that point with you 
without further discussion, measur­
ing it as I know the distinguished 
and able attorneys who constitute in 
part thes·e various branches. measure 
that with the degree of culpability 
which our Court has discussed in the 
well known case of Moulton v. Scul­
ly which. as the attorneys know, i.s 
the case under which our present 
proceedings, to a large extent, ace 
governed. Mr. Smith is entitled to 
the limitation of these charges be­
cause I presume they were care­
fully drawn. Has it been demon­
strated that he was negligent in not 
using proper diligence in attempt­
ing to collect these protested checks? 
What did he do? These checks 
which under my brother's construc­
tion of the law should have been 
collected by the D2partment of Fi­
nance. and I would ask the attornevs 
to look at that section of the Code 
at the word "he". It reads. "If anv 
check, draft, or certificate of deposit. 
shall not be paid on pr·esentation. 
the treasurer shall immediately 
notify the commissioner of finance. 
and he shall proceed to collect"""'-" 
There is an opinion that the word 
"he" m·eant the Treasurer. In any 
event that is the construction placed 
upon it by everybodv. From then on 
the Treasurer started to collect the 
checks. How could he collect them 
in the first place? He wasn't re­
sponsible for the issuing of them 
and second, according to one of the 
witnesses. a large m8joritv of them 
came out of the registration demrt­
ment.. large numbers of them in 
small amounts. amounts which 
would not justify the expense of 
suit. In his department was a girl 
who attended to that.. What did she 
do? She did what any of you would 
do if yoU had an organization with 
departments scattered around the 
State. She sent the protested checks 

back to the department where it was 
originally taken in for collection. 

Now is that r·easonable diligence 
in the attempt to collect checks. 
That is what Mr. Smith is charged 
with. Is it or isn't it. Now what 
is the experience from that collec­
tion? The experience is good. 
Since February there has been, and 
you can check the record, some two 
thousand dollars collected and 
checks are coming in all the time. 
In what respect did Mr. Smith. 
measuring his de?ree of r'2sponsi­
bility by the rule I have spoken of 
in Moulton v. Scully, in what degree 
did he not measure up to that de­
gre·e of responsibilitv in attempting 
to collect checks. What would you 
have done? Would you have sent 
these two dollar checks to lawyers 
and involve yourself in a lawsuit or 
would you have done what any sen­
sible and reasonable head of a store 
with departments throughout the 
State would have done? You would 
have sent them to the department 
for them to collect. 

And because a ma.iority of these 
came from the Highway Depart­
ment. the Highway Denartment used 
the services of its police to collect. 
the checks. Is that any failure of 
Mr. Smith to use Proper diligence 
in attempting to collect checks? 

Now we come down to the ques­
tion of reinvesting trust funds. 

We come to the question of rein­
vesting trust funds. The statute as 
has been discussed, says t.hat here­
after all funds of the State, ner­
manent trust funds of the State 
shall be inv£~ted in a certain tvpe 
of security. I argue to you that 
that is lJ. statute whose sole aim and 
intent is to restrict t.he manner of 
inv'2stment and the field of invest­
ment nnd it iB not in its nature a 
directory statute. directing the 
Treasurer or whoever invests funds 
to do anything more than this. 
When he has funds to reinvest, and 
that word is used in the charge. 
when he has funds to reinvest. the 
manner and the field of his invest­
ment is then limited by that re­
stricted statute and that is what 
he did. It is not contradicted th8t 
every single security that Mr. Smith 
haB bought as Treasurer. since his 
incumbency. it. is not contradicted 
it is a legal securitv because twke 
in direct and onc·e in cross exami­
nrttion he has said thev were in­
vested in municinal b'lnds or time 
denosits or savings deposits. Well. 
what is the error? In portfolios in 
his charge which he inherited, there 
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were securities which did not meas­
ure up to that? The charge is he 
did not reinvest funds. Every in­
vestment Mr. Smith has made with 
the money of the state since he has 
been Treasurer, with lack of contra­
diction, has been invested in ac­
cordance with that restrictive stat­
ute. It is not a directing statute, us­
ing it in the sense of a st'ltute which 
directs him to change investments 
in his portfolio which he had in­
herited, or it would have said so. 
rt is a restrictiv·e statute and must 
be so considered in these proceed­
ings, which are not criminal at least 
for involvementE or confiscation in 
the sense that a man', reputation 
and position and emoluments are 
at stake, but in that extent it is not 
exactly a civil proceeding. and I 
urge you men to read that section 
of the statute and consider the 
word "reinvestm2nt" in this charf.?:e 
And consider the undisputed evi­
dence as I have sta ted, and tell me 
if Mr. Smith should be removed 
from office for dOing what he clid 
and for inv,esting securities in the 
wav the law prescribes? 

The next char~;e is he "kept no 
carbon copies of the books of re­
ceipts of sales by the state High­
way Commission of tires and spare 
parts". Contrary to what? He 
didn't keep c3rbon copies, contrary 
to what? What is the charge? 
Contrary to law~ No. Contrary to 
the directions of the Controller? No. 
"Contrary to the forms of the book.s 
of receipt", which doesn't simply 
make sense. In other words, he is 
charged in that part of the allega­
tion here with offending nothing. 
There is no responsibility, accord­
ing to any testimony in this case. 
There is no statutory duty. There 
is no prescribing' rule which mftde 
it necessarv for him to keep copies 
of those receipts in his office. His 
girls have testified in the handling 
of the income which came in that 
income sheets were all they needed 
811d the re"t wrV3 surplusage, and 
they paid no attention to it. And 
remember this, it was said or inti­
mated that whereas these books of 
receipts were used only by some de­
partments the Treasurer should be 
charg'ed with the knowledQ,'e that he 
was not getting them from the 
Highway Department. It has not 
been demonstrated that all deuart­
ment, used them. We h8.d a High­
way Department Which, to the ex­
tent of operating the state Garage, 
at least, was exclusively by Mr. 
Runnells, the man who prescribed 

the forms, and that was one of the 
departments which never issued any 
directory regulations for the Treas­
ury Department to pay any atten­
tion to filing of forms. If you be­
lieve the girls in the Treasury De­
partment, the forms never came. 
Miss Chase testified she never saw 
one of them from the Highway De­
partment. The lady who testified, 
Mrs. Wheeler, was more pOlite in 
contradicting the girl from the 
Controller's department who told 
three different stories on the witness 
stand, that she sent them in less 
than 25% of the time, that she 
didn't send them in because of ne­
glect. and that she didn't send them 
in because she didn't think it was 
necessary. 

It is no charge of itself, either 
singly or as a matter of accumula­
tion which would justify the re­
moval of Mr. Smith in such duty 
as he had as Treasurer, and it is 
somethim: you have got to measure 
because the statute doesn't say so 
and if it is a common law proposi­
tion the attorneys who sit in your 
various bodies I think and hope will 
confirm the rulE' of measure, which 
I have stated and discussed, of our 
court. 

With respect to the checks, I have 
discussed those. Runnells comes in 
with full authority to prescribe the 
regularity and legality of claims 
against the State. Runnells came 
in to the department which not only 
trusted him but feared him. He 
tells a storv which they took from 
a man they feared and respected, 
who up to that time, since 1932. had 
been apparently running the State 
House. and he gave an explanation 
as to the cashing to old Mr. Win­
ship. and with no complicity on his 
part and because he trusted him as 
the Governor trusted him and be­
cause he believed he was exercising 
the complete power which he be­
lieved him to have, he did what any 
subordinate would do, he obeyed the 
direction of that person who was 
his superior, because he felt he was 
his superior as was the head of the 
Treasury Department, superior with 
the power which had oeen vested in 
him. Was there complicity? The 
fact that Winship was fooled i,n't 
enough. You have got to find com­
plicity or failure to use sensible 
judgment which is vitally important 
because that is the measure of Win­
ship's responsibility. If he was im­
posed on, and without complicity 
and with the exercise of reasonable 
care and judgment, under the cir-
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cumstances Winship cashed those 
checks, then they were things which 
Mr. Smith cannot be held respon­
sible. To state it in reverse, you 
must state the Treasurer is respon­
sible for Runnells' stealing money 
from the State and that was an 
undertaking to prevent which was 
never his. Hic responsibility was, I 
submit, as I have stated. 

Now, with respect to the capital 
and surplus in these banks. You 
have heard the system described in 
detail. It is reasonable that the 
State, with large amounts of money 
would run over,-and in the exhib­
its you will have a chance to see the 
way the bank account operated-the 
heavy figures show the deposits 
broken down by days of the week, 
and certain periods they would run 
over. All right, suppose they did 
run over, and are over. What is il­
legal about it? Well, I submit, 
nothing. 

The statute prescribes this, "The 
treasurer may deposit the monies of 
the State in any of the banking in­
stitutions or trust companies organ­
ized under the laws of this state or 
in any national bank or banks lo­
cated therein. No sum exceeding an 
amount equal to twenty-five per 
cent of the capital and surplus of 
anyone bank or banking institution 
shall be deposited therein. The 
above restriction shall not apply to 
deposits actually made to meet the 
payment of any bonded debts or in­
terests or warrants of the Governor 
and Council". Now, these are the 
g-eneral funds of the State. It has 
been testified they were for the pur­
pose of meeting warrants of the 
Governor and Council. so I submit 
the warrants of the Governor and 
Council, by dates, can be measured 
up against the fluctuation in the 
bank account. This money was ear­
marked to pay warrants of the Gov­
ernor and Council. It was so used. 
It comes within the fair interpreta­
tion of the limitations of that stat­
ute which says again, "The above 
restriction shall not apply to de­
posits actually made to meet the 
payment of any bonded debts or in­
terest or warrants of the Governor 
and Council". Now, it mav be ar­
gued it was not in the 'bank in 
which the warrants were drawn. 
Since that statute was passed the 
business of the State has extended 
to departments all over the State 
which are collecting large funds. It 
is only safe-only safe that those 
de par t men t s have depositories 
named, and it is the Treasurer 

whose responsibility it is to pick out 
those depositories. The funds are 
deposited every day when taken in 
and are eventually sent in by those 
depositories and no money has been 
lost. It apparently was acquiesced, 
certainly not contradicted, by the 
Bank Commissioner and by the At­
torney General. with whom he con­
sulted tor advice. Is there any neg­
ligence to perform his duty? Any 
violation of the statute which I 
claim if fairly interpreted, in a re­
stricted sense, because now it is be­
ing interpreted against the ri~hts of 
an individual? Is there any illegal­
ity about it at all? Is Mr. Smith 
at all lax in the failure? My 
brother did not assume this phase 
of the matter. 

The remaining charge that Bel­
mont A. Smith from the fourth day 
of January to the date of the reso­
lution neglected his duty, neglected 
his duty of reqUiring that all State 
funds should be delivered by the de­
partment receiving the funds, into 
the office of the State Treasurer, a 
duty which was not imposed upon 
him. 

A duty which was not imposed 
upon him. 

Now if you will turn to the Code, 
when you come to consider that, 
yOU will find a wording of one of 
these sections which reads like this: 

"Every department and agency of 
the State, whether located at the 
capitol or not, collecting or receiv­
ing public money or money from 
any sources whatsoever. belonging 
to or for the use of the State, or for 
the use of any state department or 
agency, shall pay the same immedi­
ately into the State treasury", which 
envisages that one department 
might have in its hands the funds 
belonging to another department. 
And in this case, because I am pre­
suming that charge is directed at 
the fact that the Oontroller was 
taking money from the Highway De­
partment and depositing it himself 
instead of it going direct from the 
Highway Department itself, com­
pletely within the scope of the 
language in that one of the two sec­
tions which prescribes the duty of 
the Treasurer under the Oode to 
collect public moneys. 

It was a department, the Control­
ler's, which was collecting and re­
c,eiving public money belonging to 
or for the use of the Highway De­
partment, belonging to or for the 
use of the State, or for the use of 
any State Department or agency, 
and, as the section says: "shall pay 
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the same immediately into the State 
treasury." But that is not the 
argument. I am saying that was 
envisaged by that provision of the 
Code. 

Now the argument is this, and to 
me it s·eems unanswerable: The 
Treasurer and the Treasury Depart­
ment was the depository of the 
state's funds, into which flowed the 
remittances from the various col­
lecting agencies and institutions and 
departments, and the two provisions 
of the Code which I will briefly ex­
cerpt from provided, in the first: 

"Any public officer, or any person, 
firm or association or corporaticm 
paying money into the state treas­
ury may mak·e such payment by de­
livering to the treasurer of state a 
check, draft, certificate of deposit, 
or money order, drawn, endorsed, 
and payable to the treasurer of stat'2 
or his order, or may make such pay­
ment by delivering to the treasurer 
the proper amount of lawful cur­
rency." 

That is a regulation which only 
the department collecting can break. 
That involves no duty on the treas­
urer to collect initially. 

Now what are the treasurer's du­
ties as prescribed by statute: 

"The treasurer shall keep a rec­
ord of all drafts, checks. certificates 
of deposit, money orders, and all 
cash received by him, and upon re­
ceipt thereof shall forthwith cause 
the same to be placed to the credit 
of the state of Mfl.ine in some state 
depository." And the following pro­
vision, which had apparently pro­
vided for the very situation we are 
in: 

"Every department and agency of 
the state, whether located at the 
capitol or not, collecting or receiv­
ing public money or money from 
any source whatsoever, belonging to 
or for the use of the state, or for 
the use of any state department or 
agency, shall pay the same immedi­
ately into the state treasury, with­
out any deductions on account of 
salaries'''''' ." 

What duty is prescribed on the 
State Treasurer? None, except by 
inference, the receipt of the money. 
Now the theory I)f this charge, if 
there is any theory to it, if it is not 
complete nonsens·e, is that there 
was on the Treasurer this burden 
not only to receive money but to go 
out into every department and in­
stitution of the State and s·ee that 
it got all the money that depart­
ment collected, which meant virtual 

supervision of the department, at 
least its receipts and expenditures. 

Now can you gentlemen reason­
ably say, in view of the very nature 
of the office, in the absence of any 
dir.ectory or mandatory statute to 
that effect, that the Treasurer of 
state, a constitutional officer who 
under these two sections of the Code 
was made responsible simply for the 
receipt and bookkeeping of that 
money, can you say that any correct 
interpretation of that or any other 
statute that could be found made it 
necessary for the Treasurer to go 
out to our fifty departments and in­
stitutions and bother to get all the 
money? It is nonsense, 

And there rests the case of my 
client. He has been Treasurer of 
State, and he is an honorable man 
and an honest man, and I submit in 
every single thing that he has done 
so far as these charges are con­
cerned he has not been neglig,ent. 
It has been loosely said: "Well. his 
subordinate did wrong, so he ought 
to be responsible." But that is not 
law. The Treasur-er had some legal 
duty. What was it? It is not pro­
vided by statute. The case I have 
cited to you makes the bond unde­
claratory of his duty. It was the 
common law duty of the exercise of 
that degr·ee of care which a reason­
ably prudent person under the cir­
cumstances would exercise, a "bailee" 
is the precise description of the case 
which I cited to the attorneys. Now 
he exercised it in appOinting Win­
ship. He was precluded from going 
any further because of the system 
of routing millions of checks from 
his office, which made him rely upon 
the orderliness and regularity of ad­
ministration in the Controller's de­
partment, a department which could 
only be controlled by the Governor 
and Council, a department amenable 
to no order or direction -ex cent that 
of the Governor and Council. 

And you have in the Code further 
the provision that the auditor shall 
make a post-audit of all the official 
affairs of the government, who Mr. 
Smith, when he came into office, 
had the right to assume had been 
doingiust that, because every prac­
t.ice here, except the cheating on 
checks, had been going on for years. 

Now the Auditor "If he ShAll find 
. in the course of his audit evidences 
of imnroper transactions, or of in­
comnetence in keeping accounts or 
handling funds or any other im­
proper practice of financial adminis­
tration, he shall report the same to 
the governor immediately." And 
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those were his duties and that was 
the check which the Code set up on 
the Controller and that was the 
check which Mr. Smith had a right. 
to rely on. And now, because that 
Controller went crooked, and by his 
machinations, imposed upon the 
credibility of this honest, gentle­
manly, heroic old man Winship, 
who is the hero of this tale if there 
is one, who comes in here before the 
bar of public opinion and says, "1 
am the sinner", no ducking or dodg­
ing, a gentleman of the old school, 
if I ever saw one, who admits his 
fault-and now this knave, presum­
ing upon the gentlemanliness of 
that old man's nature and his ap­
preciated fear for his power and 
responsibility, without any com­
plicitv on his part, perpetrated a 
fraud on the state of Maine, I say 
to you that Mr. Smith is no more 
responsible for that than I am, be­
cause he is only responsible, if at 
all, for the faithful performance of 
his duty. And that was not un­
faithful; it was not, under the cir­
cumstances, I submit, even negli­
gent. 

I will not invoke your sympathy 
for my client or my cause, because 
you are men of affairs and you 
know that in this embarrassing 
plight the statutes must be consid­
ered. But a knave got out of con­
trol who could be controlled, but not 
by Mr. Smith. I urge you in the 
name of justice to hesitate before 
you break him for the faults of an­
other and I thank you. 

The CHAIRMAN: ~r. Brown, you 
used about fifty mmutes of your 
hour. Do you care for ten minutes 
in rebuttal? 

Mr. BROWN: I do not care for 
ten minutes. Mr. Speaker. I would 
just like to have a very few minutes 
to call attention to a stAtement 
made by Mr. Gillin in which I feel 
sure that you misunderstood a mat­
ter which I talked of in my argu­
ment. 

It was stated to you by defense 
counsel-and I am sure it wa,~n't 
intentional - because I think he 
misunderstood me, but he stated 
that I said that the Code could be 
read by anybody in fifteen minutes. 
I do not think that I said that. If 
I did. what I intended to say was 
that the provisions of the Code rel­
ative to the Treasurer's office. in 
my opinion, can be read in fifteen 
minute,'i. 

Now the defense is taking the at­
titude that this investigation is tak-

ing place simply because of the fact 
that an audit has been made which 
disclosed the particular state of af­
fairs which do exist. Now should 
you consider this: That if the au­
clit had not been made the affairs 
would still be continuing to exist? 

The position has also been taken 
that the Controller under the set­
up of tIle Code had extreme powers, 
thdt he had the greatest powers 
that could be conceived in the State 
of Maine practically, that is in re­
gard to the handling of the differ­
ent departments connected with the 
State House. For instance, it pro­
vi.ded the particular documents, 
vouchers. and so forth that should 
be used by each department and 
they had to use them. There were 
other regulations which it prescribed 
relative to the functioning of these 
departments. And the question is 
asked of you, for instance: Under 
the control that the Controller had 
over all these different departments 
what could the Highway Depart· 
ment do? What could that depart­
ment do? And I say to you. under 
the Code as it exists, could the 
Highway Department turn its own 
funds into the treasury or is the 
Highway Department to be excused 
when it turns its particular funds 
over to the office of the Bureau of 
Accounts and Control and those are 
carried into the Treasurer's office? 

Now the point is made that the 
Treasurer's office had no duties in 
connection with the cash transac­
tiolli'; of this State, so far as money 
coming in to it was concerned other 
than to sit there in that office and 
take what money came in, because 
the statute reads that the treasury 
office shall receive the cash from 
all the other departments. and the 
position is taken by the defense that 
it had no other obligations. And, 
if I understood Mr. Gillin's argu­
ment correctly. he says that the pro­
ponents take the position that the 
duty is on the Treasurer to go 
around to every department and 
collect from them every cent that 
they have taken in. Now I do not 
say the proponent~ take that posi­
tion, but the proponents might take 
this position: The law requiring the 
Treasurer to receive all the money 
from the various state agencies and 
riepartments, if it knows that the 
department turning in cash to it is 
turning in cash that did not orig­
inate in that department-~for in­
stance, if it knows that it is getting 
Highway Department funds for de­
posit through thE Controller's office, 
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is it supposed to take them and do 
nothing more, or is tv be expected 
LO make some attempt to correct 
the situation? Now that is for your 
considera tion. 

Now the position has been taken 
here also that if there is any dere­
liction 01 duty whatsoever it is in 
connection with the Controller·.s of­
fice, and the Governor having juris­
diction in the matter could readily 
see that all of the laws in the Code 
relative to the Controller's office 
were entorced, because that is his 
duty; and if I understand tile argu­
ment correctly. the point is made 
that if His Excellency had done that, 
that this trouble might not have 
arisen. Now if that is true, if that 
is a correct premise on which to 
proceed, would it follow from that 
that if the defense seeks to charge 
His Excellency with not enforcing 
Lhe Code, the regulation under the 
Code in regard to the departments 
of this state, would you expect the 
Treasurel to enforce the regulations 
under this Code which pertain to 
his own office? Now that is for 
your consideration. 

The point is made, and I think 
that I would probably agree with it, 
that the Treasurer of this state is 
rEquired to use reasonable care. 
Now if the Treasurer of the state, 
as he says, never read the regula­
tions in the Code relative tJ his own 
office, if he did not attempt to learn 
what the permanent trust fund was 
vvhen he handled those particular 
portfolios, has he exercised reason­
able care? That is for your con­
sideration. And the pJint was 
made in the argument by the de­
fenEe counsel, "Now let us look at 
Lhis thing like reasonable m'cll on 
t~1j,3 protested check business." 
These checks went back to the de­
partment from which they CR.me 
and they made all reasolluble at­
temut to collect them. So we come 
righl Dack to this proposition which 
I formerly mentioned: Are you go­
ing to tie to the proposition that 
:'011 are gOing to regard the Treas­
ury Department functions in ac­
cordance with the regulations? If 
you are, it might be an answer to 
Lhat argument as to what the 
Treasurer's office should do with 
Ihese protested checks. 

Well, they could establish the pur­
pose prescribed in the Code which 
says that they shall be either turned 
over or reported to the Finance 
Commissioner for collection. That 
would be one way which could be 
used. 

In closing. let me say this to you: 
You have got the general picture of 
the evidence which has been sub­
mitted relative to these charges. 
Now if I understand it correctly a 
Treasurer will need to be appOinted 
in January and in view of what has 
(eve loped here would you feel jus­
Lifi.ed in reappointing Mr. Smith? 
If you would your duty is clear, and 
if you would not, of course your 
duty is still clear. Do you feel, to 
use a good old Yankee term, do you 
feel that he is steadfast? Do you 
feel that he is the kind of a rock 
that you would like to tie to when 
it comes to the handling of public 
Inoney? 

Now I know you will give this 
your careful consideration and that 
you will think over what has been 
mentioned to you by counseL And 
I feel certain that you will decide 
this case on the evidence submitted 
and that reg'ardless of what your 
decision may be it will be based 
upon the impression that has been 
made upon you here from the evi­
dence that has gone in. 

I thank you. 
The SPEAKER: Before this Con­

vention is finally dissolved I, as one 
of your co-chairmen on behalf of 
the presiding ofilcers, wish to extend 
our appreCiation of the constant and 
faithful attendance and attention 
that the members of this Conven­
tion have given to every session 
through three long days of tedious 
legal testimony. It is our feeling 
that your attention has been that 
which the people of your state ex­
pect of you. The roll has been 
called before every session, the few 
absentees that appeared in the call­
ing of the roE usually appeared 
within a few seconds after the roll 
was completed or had been excused 
by formal action of the proper 
branch. 

As I was the attorney member of 
your co-presiding officers it fell to 
my lot to preside over what for any­
one was a most unpleasant task and 
I can and do appreciate the diffi­
culties which the lay members of 
this convention must have had at 
times with the interpretation of 
rules of evidence. But it was my 
duty as I saw it ta carry out the 
orders under which this Convention 
was convened. I have done so as 
impartially and fairly to both par­
ties as I knew how. Again let me 
express my appreciation of your 
faithful attention. 

Mr. BROWN: Mr. Speaker, I 
would like to ask this question. 
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There are three checks in the ex­
hibit which were given to me upon 
my assurance that they would be 
returned to the source from which 
I got them because they undoubt­
edly will be necessary in the Grand 
Jury investigation. Now, would you 
know what arrangements I could 
make to be sure that these checks 
would be so handled? 

The CHAIRMAN: The Chair un­
derstands that all exhibits are in 
the custody of the Secretary of the 
Convention who is also the Secre­
tary of the Senate and that the ex­
hibits will remain in his custody 
until needed by any proper body at 
which time the presiding officers 
with the cooperation of the Secre­
tary of the Senate will see that they 
are delivered to thE; proper place. 

The PRESIDENT OF THE SEN­
ATE: The purpose for which this 
Convention was formed having now 
been completed, I declare the Con­
vention dissolved. 

Thereupon, the Senate retired, 
amid the applause of the House, the 
members rising. 

In the House 
The House was called to order by 

the Speaker. 

The SPEAKER: The House was 
proceeding on the report of a com­
mittee out of order. The Clerk will 
read the report. 

From the Senate: 
Report of the Committee on 

Mines and Mining reporting "Ought 
to pass" on Bill "An Act to Encour­
agC) Development of Maine's Re­
sources" (S. P. 733) (L. D. 1239) 

Comes from the Senate, report 
read and accepted and the Bill 
passed to be engrossed. 

In the House, report read and ac­
cepted in concurrence and the Bill 
had its two several readings, and 
under suspension of the rules, was 
given its third reading and was 
passed to be engrossed in concur­
rence. 

Passed to be Enacted 
(Emergency Measure) 

(Out of Order) 
An Act to Incorporate the Town 

of Bridgewater School District (H. 
P. 2267) (L. D. 1240) 

The SPEAKER: This being an 
emergency measure, it requires for 
its passage the affirmative vote of 
two-thirds of the entire elected 
'llembership of the House. As many 

as are in favor of the passage of 
this Bill to be enacted will rise and 
stand in their places until counted 
and the Monitors will make and re­
turn the count. 

A division being had, 
One hundred and twenty voting 

in the affirmative and none in the 
negative, 120 being more than two­
thirds of the erltirc elected member­
ship of the House, the Bill v,'as 
passed to be enacted and sent to 
the Senate. 

On motion by Mr. Varney of Ber­
wick, 

Recessed until 6.45 this evening, 
Eastern Standard Time. 

After Reccss-7.C:J P. M. 
Called to order by the Speaker. 

Paper from thf Senate, out of or­
der and under suspension of the 
1 ules: 

From the Senate: 
Report of the CommitteE; on Li­

brary reporting "Ought to pass" on 
Bill "An Act relating to a Maine 
state Library" (S. P. 738) (L. D. 
1234) 

Comes from thE' Senate, i'eport 
read and accepted and the Bill 
passed to be engrossed. 

In the House, report read and ac­
cepted in concurrence and the Bill 
had its two several readings, and 
under suspension of the rules, was 
given its third reading and was 
paEsed to be engrossed in concur­
rence. 

Passed to be Enacted 
(Out of Order) 

An Act relating to the Auditing of 
the Accounts of the State Liquor 
Commission (S. P. 708) (L. D. 1214) 

Mr. STILPHEN of Dresden: Mr. 
Speaker, I move to take from the 
table the communication relative to 
issuing of highway bonds. 

The SPEAKER: The gentleman 
from Dresden, Mr. Stilphen, moves 
that the House now take from the 
table communication from His Ex­
cellency, the Governor, accompanied 
by a c:Jmmunication of the State 
Budget Officer, tabled by that same 
gentleman. 

The motion prevailed; and on 
further motion by the same gentle­
man, the communication was or­
dered placed on filp. and sent up for 
concurrence. 
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The SPEAKER: The House may 
br at ease and remain within sound 
of the gong. 

House at Ease 

10:00 P. M. 
Called to order by the Speaker. 
Out of order and under suspen­

sion of the rules, Mr. Varney of 
Berwick, presented the following 
Order: 

ORDERED, the Senate concurring, 
that the State Controller be direct­
ed to pay the fee and expenses of 
W. C. Scott Brown, Esq., Attorney 
for the presentation of the evidence 
in the Belmont Smith Address Pro­
ceedings. on voucher approved by 
the Joint Committee on Judiciary, 
and charge the same to the appro­
priation for the legislative depart­
ment. 

The Order received passage and 
was sent up for concurrence. 

On motion by Mr. McGlauflin, out 
of order and under suspension of 
the rules, it was 

ORDERED, that Mr. McGlauflin 
of Portland, be excused from a t­
tendance tomorrow because of his 
attendance at Law Court; also that 
Mr. stevens of Jonesport be excused 
from attendance. 

The SPEAKER: Is it the pleas­
ure of the House to take up out of 
order additional papers from the 
Senate? 

From the Senate: 
Address to the Governor request­

ing the removal from office of Bel­
mont A. Smith. Treasurer of the 
State of Maine (8 P. 748) 

Read by the Clerk. 
(The full text of this address will 

be found in the Senate proceedings 
for June 6th) 

The SPEAKER: This Address 
comes from the Senate, in that body 
failed of passage and sent to the 
House. The question before the' 
House is on the adoption of the Ad­
dress. 

Mr. McGLAUFLIN of Portland: 
Mr. Speaker, I would like the priv­
ilege, while addressing you, to face 
the House. 

The SPEAKER: The gentleman 
has permission. 

Mr. McGLAUFLIN: Mr. Speaker 
and members of the House, the 
members of this body are supposed 
to possess at least ordinary intelli­
gence and probably average intelli-

gence. We are sent here with the 
expectation that we will use some 
common sense and good judgment. 

A V'c'l'Y important matter has 
arisen for our consideration, and we 
should give this matter consider­
ation wIthout bias, without prejudice 
and without influence of political 
hysteria. Now I venture to say 
that many members of this body 
were unable to follow the proceed­
ings that went on here in this 
House, partially because you could 
not hear and partially because, not 
being trained lawyers, you might not 
be able to follow the drift. I, be­
ing a lawyer and being fortunate 
enough to occupy one of the front 
seats, have been able to follow this 
matter pretty closely. Therefore, I 
wish to ask your indulgence while 
I briefly discuss the matters that 
are contained in this Resolution. 

I will do as the lawyers did this 
aHernoon, take up briefly the vari­
ous charges that are made against 
Belmont Smith. The first charge is 
that he failed to collect taxes 
against those banks chiefly in 1933. 
It has already been pointed out to 
you that that collection was the 
duty of his predecessors, that re­
gardless of whether it was his duty 
to collect or not, these banks were 
in the hands of a Receiver, and that 
no suit could be brought without the 
consent of the Court and the Court 
is very loath to allow its Receivers 
to be sued. But apart from all that, 
I have taken the trouble to investi­
gate the Statute and I want to call 
your attention to the fact that on 
Page 101 of the Revised Statutes 
of Maine it says this in effect: That 
in addition to other matters of col­
lecting taxes, if they are not paid 
within thirty days, the State Treas­
urer may proceed to collect them. 
I emphasize the word "may". It 
does not say that he shall and, 
when the statute says may, it leaves 
it up to the judgment of that officer 
to use his judgment on that mat­
ter. Therefore Belmont Smith 
violated no law when he failed to 
collect those taxes. 

Now the second point was that he 
failed to use proper diligence in the 
collection of certain protested 
checks. It was well pOinted out 
this afternoon that he had not 
failed in his diligence, but I want 
you to consider just for a moment 
that supposing he had. It seems 
that some of the members of this 
House and Senate have become ex­
ceedingly law abiding citizens. I 
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want to ask you how many there 
are in this House who have never 
violated any law. How many of us 
have violated the automobile law, 
the stop signal law, the fast driv­
ing law? How many of us have 
failed to violate city ordinances? 
How many fishermen are there in 
this House who have not sometime 
or other in their life put a trout 
that was a quarter of an inch short 
into his basket. I want to say that 
if you turned out every member of 
this House that ever violated a law 
or a statute, there wouldn't be, the 
women excepted, there wouldn't be 
any men in this Legislature to pas~ 
on this matter. And yet because 01 
some trivial, what you consider to 
be some trivial violation of law, 
some of you are ready to condemn 
him. 

I recently drove up on Congress 
Street in a place where busses were 
supposed to stand, and the police­
man came along and told me to 
move because I was violating a stat­
ute, and I said to that policeman: 
"It is all right to try to enforce 
the law when any harm is bemg 
done, but when as I am doing 
now, stopping here a few minutes 
and doing no harm and there is no 
bus here, I consider it the duty ot 
an officer to use judgment and com­
mon sense." I refused to move and 
he did not move me. 

Now I come to the third point, 
that he did not reinvest certain 
permanent trust funds, and you 
condemn, some of you, Belmont 
Smith without knowing what a per­
manent trust fund was, when the 
Attorney General 01 the State hIm­
self did not know and when, accord­
ing to the evidence that took place 
in this room, Mr. Cowan, an expert 
on the subject, had to go back to 
some charter 01 1820 to find out tor 
himself his conclusion of what that 
particular permanent trust fund 
was. If there was any violation 
in that respect, it should have been 
up to the Attorney General to call 
his attention to It, and the fact 
that the Bank Examiner and the 
Attorney General were both in 
doubt on this subject, showed that 
there was no intentional violation 
on that point. 

The fourth count of the charge is 
that he failed to supervise the acts 
of his Deputy so that various things 
happened. One is that he did not 
keep carbon copies of the books of 
receipts. Second that they cashed 
five checks that he did not know 

about, three, that he cashed ten 
other checks, and (d) that he 
cashed so m e interdepartmental 
checks. 

Now I have taken the trouble to 
figure out the total number of those 
checks that were cashed for Mr. 
Runnells by Mr. Winship in the 
three and one-half years that Mr. 
Smith was in office, and I find that 
there were thirty-eight and in that 
time, according to the testimony 
given m this House, there were 
some four and one-half million 
checks cashed. In other words, as 
I figure, that averages, taking the 
thirty-eight, that figures once in 
forty-nine days one of these checks 
was cashed, Which would mean that 
if Belmont Smitll did as some men 
now seem to expect him, he would 
have gone into Mr. Winship'S office 
every morning or every evening, I 
will say in the afternoon, and say 
to Mr. Winship, "Have you cashed 
any checks today that you should 
not?" And Mr. Winship would say, 
"No, none that I am aware of." So 
Mr. Smith says, "It is my duty to 
see and we will go over these 
checks." And so they go over four 
thousand checks that atternoon and 
they find no harm. They find no 
check that wasn't proper, and if 
you went from one period to the 
other for the whole forty-nine days, 
I find they would have had to ex­
amine 176,000 of those checks before 
they would discover one discrepancy. 

Now an executive doesn't do busi­
ness that way. He chooses com­
petent clerks and he expects those 
clerks to take care of the details 
and it is not his job and not his 
province to go into those details at 
all unless in some way his atten­
tIOn is called to some irregularity. 
The evidence rs that Mr. Smith's at­
tention was never called to any 
Irregularity until last March. 

Now on this particular matter, I 
want to further caJl your attention 
to this fact, that apparently Bel­
inont Smith was under bonds to the 
extent of $150,000. Now some of you 
will argue that he was responsible 
for what his employees did. Let us 
suppose for a moment that he is, 
which, of course, he is not, if he has 
no supervision of what they are do­
ing, and he could not have in this 
case under any sensible view. If, 
as a result of the wrongful acts of 
his deputy, the State lost moneY-I 
mean by that a culpably wrongful 
act-then the State has redress in 
this bond, and if that is the case 
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here, then the State is fully pro­
tected by the bond. and the State 
has no ground whatever on that 
score for removing Mr. Smith, when 
it is admitted by everybody that hc 
has done no intentional wrong. 

! come now to the fifth charge: 
That he put too much money in 
some of the banks. Now it is not 
claimed by anybody that the State 
of Maine ever lost a cent by that 
method, if perchance at some time 
or other he did put more than 
twenty-five per cent in some bank; 
but the evidence shows that there 
is no Droof that he did any such 
thing, because where that over-de­
posit is found in most cases, and, 
as far as I know, in all cases, it was 
a perfectly legal transaction. 

And the sixth clause states that 
he neglected his duty in not requir­
ing all state funds to be paid di­
rectly to him. I want to show to 
you the utter absurdity of that 
claim. The State Treasurer is sup­
posed to receive the money. Let me 
give you this illust,ation: Let us 
suppose that I owe Mr. Erswell one 
hundred dollars. It t3 my duty to 
pay Mr. Erswell that $100. But, in­
stead of taking it to him myself, I 
give it to Mr. Stilphen and ask him 
to give it to Mr. Erswell. Now I 
r.sk you what under Heaven would 
Mr. Erswell care whether I gave him 
the money or whether Mr. Stilphen 
gave him the money, if he got the 
money? 

Now all that Mr. Smith was con­
cerned with was to get the money 
that was sent in. Are you going to 
ask him to go around to the differ­
ent departments and ask them if 
they have got any money that be­
longs to him, when it is their duty 
to turn the money over and all in 
the world that the law requires is 
that he shall receive the money, and 
it is up to those different depart­
ments to sec that he does receive it? 

Now thus, briefly, I have gone 
over these points. and I can only 
say in conclusion on that matter 
that we have had in this House 
much ado about nothing. 

Mr. Speaker and members of this 
House: You have heard the story 
of Pontius Pilate. Pontius Pilate, 
on one occasion, was asked to ex­
amine Jesus Christ, and 011e of the 
charge,s they had ag'ainst him was 
that he had violated the law because 
he allowed people to do good on 
the Sabbath day, and the Pharisees 
said that was wicked and wrong'. 
Pontius Pilate acting as the Legis­
lature of that time, examined him, 

and he said, "I find no fault in 
him". But Pontius Pilate was a 
politician, and the mob said, "Cru­
cify him". And Pontius Pilate 
turned him over to the mob. to his 
eternal damnation and condemna­
tion, because he didn't have sense 
enough to stand by his prinCiples 
and fight for the right, but he 
yielded to the mob hysteria. And I 
find in this very House men who, 
without rhyme or reason, say "Turn 
him out" and they do not use any 
.iudgment on the matter at all. I 
hope that the members of this 
House are fair enough and will use 
sound judgment enough to vote 
"No" on this resolution. 

Mr. HINCKLEY of South Port­
land: Mr. Speaker, I had hoped 
that we might save some time in 
this matter tonight. We have 
heard three days of evidence in this 
rase, and we have heard it ably 
summed UP by the counsel on the 
two sides. I therefore move the pre­
vious question. 

The SPEAKER: The gentleman 
from South Portland, Mr. Hinckley, 
moves the previous question. In or­
oer for the Chair to entertain the 
motion for the previous question re­
auires the consent of one-third of 
the members present. All those in 
favor of the Chair entertaining the 
motion for the previous question at 
this time will rise and stand in 
their nlaces until counted and the 
Monitors will make and return the 
count. 

A division was had. 
The SPEAKER: Obviously more 

than one· third of the members hav­
ing arisen, the previous question is 
ordered. The question now before 
the House is shall the main Ques­
tion be put now? All those in favor 
of the main question being put now 
will say aye; those opposed no. 

A viva yoce vote being taken, the 
main Question was ordered. 

Mr. BATES of Patten: Mr, 
Speaker. when the vote is taken, I 
ask that it be taken by the yeas and 
nays. 

The SPEAKER: The gentleman 
from Patten, Mr, Bates, asks that 
when the vote is taken it be taken 
by the yeas and nays. The vote 
will be taken by the yeas and nays 
at the request of one-fifth of the 
members present. All those in fa­
vor of the vote being taken by the 
yeas and nays will rise and stand 
in their places until counted, and 
the Monitors will make and return 
the count. 

A division was had. 
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The SPEAKER: Obviously more 
than one-fifth of the members hav­
ing arisen, the vote will be taken by 
the yeas and nays. 

Mr. COWAN of Portland: Mr. 
Speaker-

The SPEAKER: For what pur­
pose does the gentleman rise? 

Mr. COWAN: To ask, Mr. Speak­
er, in view of what occurred yes­
terday, that I might have the opin­
ion of the members of this House 
as to whether or not they wish me 
to vote. If they say yes, I will vote. 
but it might save embarrassment if 
I do not. 

The SPEAKER: The Chair un­
derstands that the gentleman re­
quests to be excused from voting. 
All those in favor of the gentleman 
being excused will say aye: those 
opposed no. 

A viva voce vote being taken, Mr. 
Cowan was excused from voting. 

The SPEAKER: The Chair will 
remind the members of the rule 
covering voting when the roll call 
is being taken. 

The question before the House is 
on the adoption of the Address to 
the Governor. Is the House ready 
for the question? All those in fa­
vor of the adoption of the Address 
to the Governor will answer yes 
when their name is called: those 
opposed to the adoption of the Ad­
dress will answer no. The Clerk 
will call the roll. 

YEA-Arzonico, Ayotte, Belanger, 
Bird, Bolduc, Brown, Caribou; Brown, 
Eagle Lake; Burbank, Chandler, Cook, 
Crockett, Donahue. Dorrance, Doug­
lass, Ellis, Fowles. Good, Goss, Grua, 
Hall. Hanold. Hawes, Hildreth, Hinck­
ley, Hinman, Holden, Holman, Jewett, 
Labbee, LaFleur, Lambert, Leveque, 
Mahon, McNamara, Mercier, Meserve, 

Miller, Murchie. Norwood, Paul, Plum­
mer, Poulin, Waterville; Pratt, Race, 
Robbins. Robie, Robinson, S. Port­
land; Slosberg, Smith, Thomaston; 
Snow, Dover-Foxcroft; Starrett, Stil­
phen, Sylvia, Violette, Williams. 

NAY - Bacon, Batchelder, B'ttes, 
Bragdon, Brown, Corinna; Bubar, 
Burgess, Limestone; Butler, Buzzell, 
Churchill, Cleaves, Clough, Cushing, 
Davis, DeBeck, Dennison, Dorsey, 
Dow, Eliot; Dow, Norway; Downs, 
Dwinal, Eddy, Emerv, Erswell. Far­
well, Fernald, Haskell, Hodgkins, 
Howes, Hussey, Jordan, Larrabee, 
Latno, Luro, MacNichol, Marshall, 
Maxim, McGillicuddy, McGhufiin, 
Melanson, Merrifield, Mills, Noyes, 
Pal meter, Payson, Peakes, Pelletier, 
Preble, Richardson, Robinson, Bing­
ham; Robinson, Peru; Shesong, 
Sleeper, Smith, Westbrook; Snow, 
Hermon; Stacy, Tardif, Thompson, 
Townsend, Varney, Wall,er, Wallace, 
Weed, Weatherbee, Welch, Whitney, 
Winter, Worth, Young, Acton. 

ABSENT - Babin, Barter, Dean, 
Dow, Kennebunkport; Everett, Fogg, 
Ford, Keene, Lord, Otto, Pike, Lubec; 
Porell, Poulin. Rumford; Ramsdell, 
Stevens, Winslow. 

EXCUSED-Cowan. 
Yes, 55; No, 69; Absent, 16; Ex­

cused, 1. 
The SPEAKER: Fifty-five hav­

ing voted in the affirmative, sixty­
nine in the negative, one excused 
and sixteen absent, the Address has 
failed of adoption. 

The SPEAKER: Is there any 
further business to come before the 
House at this time? 

On motion by Mr, Varney of Ber­
wick, 

Adjourned until nine o'clock to­
morrow morning, Eastern Standard 
Time. 


